
_________________________________________________________________________________
Jo Miller
Chief Executive

Issued on: Tuesday 20th November, 2018

Governance Services Officer for this meeting Christine Rothwell  
Senior Governance Officer
Tel:  01302 735682

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Agenda
___________________________________________________________________

To all Members of the

COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY PANEL

Notice is given that a Meeting of the above Panel is to be held as follows:
 

Venue:   Room 008 – Civic Office

Date:      Wednesday, 28th November, 2018

Time:      3.00 pm

____________________________________________________________________

Items for Discussion:

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 
excluded from the meeting. 

3. Declarations of Interest, if any. 

4. Public Statements. 
[A period not exceeding 20 minutes for statements from up to 5 
members of the public on matters within the Panel’s remit, proposing 
action(s) which may be considered or contribute towards the future 
development of the Committee’s work programme]

Public Document Pack



A.
A. Reports where the public and press may not be excluded.

5. Waste Collection Contract - Update (Pages 1 - 10)

(Appendix 1 to the report contains exempt information, as defined in 
paragraph 3 (information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person, including the authority holding that information) 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act, 1972, as 
amended)

6. Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan for Doncaster Council's 
Trees and Woodlands (Pages 11 - 56)

7. Scrutiny Work Plan November 2018 (Pages 57 - 76)

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL

Chair – Councillor Jane Kidd
Vice-Chair – Councillor Jane Cox

Councillors Nigel Cannings, Mick Cooper, George Derx, Susan Durant, 
David Hughes, Ian Pearson and Tina Reid

Invitee:  Tom Fent (UNISON)



www.doncaster.gov.uk

____________________________________________________________________

To the Chair and Members of the 
Community & Environment Overview & Scrutiny Panel

COLLECTION CONTRACT - UPDATE 

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s)

Wards Affected Key Decision

Cllr Chris McGuiness All No

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. To update Overview & Scrutiny Panel on the mobilisation and transformation of the 
new waste and recycling collection contract.

EXEMPT REPORT

2. This report is not exempt, however, there are financial and commercially 
sensitive matters contained within appendix 1 to the report.  Therefore, appendix 
1 is not for publication because it contains exempt information under paragraph 
3, of part 1 of schedule 12a of the local government act 1972, as amended, 
(information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).

RECOMMENDATIONS

3. To note the content of the report. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

4. An improved and efficient waste and recycling collection service.

BACKGROUND

5. Fundamental changes in service delivery were specified for the new waste and 
recycling collection contract that commenced on 5 March, following a full public 
consultation in December 2015/January 2016.

6. The contract was tendered for a period of 8 years, with up to a 2 year extension. 
The contract was awarded to SUEZ UK and the annual contract value is 
approximately £8.695M. There is further financial information in Appendix 1. 

Date:    28/11/18                            

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



7. The Council procured the new blue wheeled bins for the roll out of the new 
service. There had initially been some issues with the blue bin lids which have 
been addressed with the manufacturer and they are providing batches of new 
blue bin lids free of charge.

8. SUEZ led on the successful delivery of over 130,000 blue bins between 
November 2017 and February 2018. The delivery of the blue bins has been well 
received by residents and as part of this roll out the Council ran an award 
winning social media campaign #binvasion which led to residents engaging with 
the Council about the new service. The award was for ‘Best Communications 
Campaign’ from LARAC (The Local Authority Recycling Advisory Committee).

9. In accordance with the Service Delivery Plan submitted at tender stage SUEZ 
adopted a ‘big-bang’ approach by introducing the major operational changes on 
the first day of the new contract, including;

 The change to a fortnightly blue bin recycling service.
 The change to 4 day working week – Tuesday to Friday with 10 hour days.
 New routes based on ward boundaries for all services.
 The implementation of In-cab technology to replace paper based round 

sheets.
 New vehicles for all services.

10. The mobilisation and implementation of the new contract was severely hampered 
by a period of prolonged service disruption resulting from the severe weather 
conditions in the final week of the old contract (26 February to 2 March) and the 
agreed phased approach to integrate key aspects of Suez’s new operational IT 
system (CORE) with the Council's Customer Relationship Management systems 
(Mayrise/Lagan).    

11. Since introducing the service changes outlined above SUEZ have focussed their 
efforts on achieving 100% completion of scheduled collections on a daily basis 
and they have provided additional resources (vehicles/staff) to achieve this, 
some of which are still in place.  At the start of the new contract through March 
and April there was a high level of missed collections which was to be expected 
with the level of change in the new contract and the disruption from the severe 
weather.  

12. The difficultly in dealing with the volume of enquiries and requests for service 
was further compromised by the phased approach to the IT systems 
(integration).  These factors contributed to the problem of duplicate enquiries 
being raised as calls; and a high number of requests for service information 
being made by the Waste and Recycling team.

13. Whilst performance rates have improved and we now have improved access to 
quality information that we (both SUEZ and Doncaster Council) can manipulate 
to improve the services moving forward and target any problematic areas. The 
contract specifies that the service will be self-monitoring and self-reporting. To 
achieve this and to effectively manage service delivery the CORE system is 
required to be the primary IT application from an operational perspective.

14. There are 55 performance standards within the contract a few examples are; 
missed collections, failure to manage bin stock levels, failure to weigh and record 
each load and failure to observe the lease requirements of the premises. The 

Page 2



Performance Management Framework and associated clauses within the 
contract entitle the Council to deduct the relevant performance deductions, they 
are not mandatory.  This allows flexibility to vary the application of the 
performance standards dependant on circumstances such as transformation, 
mobilisation, IT development work, bad weather, force majeure etc.  

15. In regards to ‘Transformation’ the contract terms permitted the service provider 6 
months (from 5 March) to fully implement the new service and to deliver the 
performance standards set out in the Specification.  Due to the fundamental 
changes in contract delivery SUEZ’s approach was to implement all the service 
changes from day 1 and despite having robust processes in place the above 
factors contributed to some delays. SUEZ and the Council have both 
encountered issues with data and IT integration. Some of the IT integration has 
still not been resolved, a further report has been submitted and approved by 
Information Governance Board to deliver phase 2 of this work. 

16. The recycling tonnage collected in the blue bin and green box has increased 
from April 2018, compared to the previous year. The figures are provided in 
Appendix 2. 

17. The contract performance regarding missed collection has improved since the 
start of the contract. As context to the number of missed collections there are 
816,000 scheduled household collections each month and for 2018 the 
percentage misses are therefore 0.57% in March reducing to 0.1% in October. 
The figures are provided in Appendix 3. 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED

18. Report for information only.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

19. To note the content of the report.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

20.
Outcomes Implications 
Doncaster Working: Our vision is for 
more people to be able to pursue their 
ambitions through work that gives 
them and Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future;

 Better access to good fulfilling work
 Doncaster businesses are 

supported to flourish
  Inward Investment

Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a 
borough that is vibrant and full of 
opportunity, where people enjoy 
spending time;

Page 3



 The town centres are the beating 
heart of Doncaster

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities 
through Physical Activity and Sport

 Everyone takes responsibility for 
keeping Doncaster Clean

 Building on our cultural, artistic and 
sporting heritage

The introduction of the blue 
wheeled bin ensures that 
recycling is fully contained, 
which results in less windblown 
litter. 

Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for 
learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life that 
is fulfilling;

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within and 
beyond school

 Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good or 
better

 Learning in Doncaster prepares 
young people for the world of work 

Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a 
borough that cares together for its 
most vulnerable residents;

 Children have the best start in life
 Vulnerable families and individuals 

have support from someone they 
trust

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes

Connected Council: 

 A modern, efficient and flexible 
workforce

 Modern, accessible customer 
interactions

 Operating within our resources and 
delivering value for money

 A co-ordinated, whole person, 
whole life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents

 Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance 

Most of the waste and 
recycling services are now 
available online

Page 4



RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

21. Report for information purposes.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [NJD 14th November 2018]

22. This Council is a waste collection authority for the purposes of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990.  Section 45 of the Act places an obligation on waste 
collection authorities to arrange for the collection of the household waste in its 
area.

23. The Council ran a competitive process for the provision of a waste and recyclate 
collection service in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

24 Suez UK submitted the most economically advantageous tender and 
subsequently entered in to an agreement with the Council to provide the service.

25. The contract provides for performance monitoring and where performance levels 
are not achieved performance deductions may be applied.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [RT 14/11/18]

26. The contract was tendered for a period of 8 years with an annual contract value 
of £8.695m. There are further financial implications in Appendix 1 as this 
information is commercially sensitive. 

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [DK  13/11/2018]

27. There are no specific HR implications to the collection contract - update report.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [PW 14/11/18 ]

28. The Digital Transformation Team worked alongside the Waste and Recycling 
department and contracted partners Suez to create Phase 1 of the planned 
system developments and integrations in support of the new contract go-live in 
March 2018. There was a 4 week Go Live period where remedial works took 
place to improve the system integrations to prevent any duplicate data being 
passed through to the Suez system (CORE).  Since this time a further TGB 
proposal has been approved to commence a Phase 2 of development work to 
further improve the way in which these systems interact. Since the approval of 
the TGB proposal a project has established, the scope and tranches of work 
agreed and these have been aligned with some planned system down time to 
accommodate the Lagan CRM upgrade. The first tranche of 3 planned tranches 
of work is planned for implementation by the end of January.

HEALTH IMPLICATIONS [CT  13.11.18] 

29. Research from Zero Waste Scotland (ZWS) found little difference between 
weekly and fortnightly waste collections with regards to the human health risk 
from the likes of odours, bacteria, maggots and flies. However, the study found 
that waste 8 weeks old and left due to missed collections, for example may lead 
to increased endotoxin concentrations. Endotoxin is linked to inflammation of 
the lungs and airways.  

Page 5



30. Therefore with regard to performance it is imperative that missed collections are 
minimised and procedures put in place to limit any delay in collecting waste to 
ensure there is no adverse effect on the population.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS [LR  02/11/18]

31. The waste and recycling collections undertaken still allow for an assisted 
collection service for residents that are not able to put their containers out for 
collection. The use of smaller bins (140 litre) are also available on request for 
black, blue and green bins. 

CONSULTATION

32. No further consultation undertaken 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

33. None 

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Lee Richardson, Waste & recycling Manager  
01302 734987
lee.richardson@doncaster.gov.uk

Peter Dale
Director of Regeneration & Environment

Page 6



Document is Restricted

Page 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Recycling Tonnage 

 March April May June July August
Septembe
r October

2017 1667.3 1315.12 1553.64 1576.52 1438.58 1529.5 1588.02 1458.14
2018 1383.74 1806.8 1969.96 1822.62 1782.86 1815.72 1608.26 1737.62

% Increase -17.0% 37.4% 26.8% 15.6% 23.9% 18.7% 1.3% 19.2%

Page 9



Appendix 3 – Missed Collections 

1st Notices 2017 March April May June July August September October
Black Bin 360 328 286 355 342 368 299 304
Green Bin 370 497 284 429 223 254 192 176
Blue Bin/Green Box 165 103 96 137 136 143 87 97
TOTAL 895 928 666 921 701 765 578 577

1st Notices 2018 March April May June July August September October
Black Bin 1609 1289 686 592 433 543 289 333
Green Bin 880 1232 457 301 193 301 197 221
Blue Bin/Green Box 2165 1352 801 469 356 317 225 336
TOTAL 4654 3873 1944 1362 982 1161 711 890

Please note October 2018 figures are unaudited 

Page 10



www.doncaster.gov.uk

____________________________________________________________________

                   

To the Chair and Members of the 
COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan for Doncaster Council’s Trees and 
Woodlands

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s)

Wards Affected Key Decision

Cllrs Joe Blackham & 
Chris McGuiness

All No

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. This report provides information on the Tree Policy and Tree Risk 
Management Plan for Doncaster Council’s Trees and Woodlands, which is 
intended to establish a clear, consistent and structured approach to how 
Street Scene will maintain trees on land owned and managed by Doncaster 
Council in line with the principles and actions of the Doncaster Green 
Infrastructure Strategy 2014-2028.  

2. The policy also represents a significant change in the way that municipal 
trees will be managed in support of the main vision of the Council to find 
new ways of working to develop public services in line with the Doncaster 
Growing Together strategy.

3. The document is presented to the Communities and Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel for information. The document is attached as appendix 
A.

EXEMPT REPORT

4. This is not an exempt report.

28th November, 2018

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



RECOMMENDATIONS

5. That Members receive and comment upon the Tree Policy and Tree Risk 
Management Plan for Doncaster Council’s Trees and Woodlands. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

6. Towns and cities everywhere bear testament to the value of the municipal 
tree and, whilst the value of trees in towns has been known throughout the 
world since the earliest times, there is a growing body of research that 
underpins trees as an immensely valuable and functional part of urban 
infrastructure that is responsible for providing a wide range of social, 
environmental, economic and health benefits.

7. However, although trees are a positive feature, they can also cause a range 
of problems, from being a nuisance or inconvenience to potentially causing 
serious injury or property damage. 

8. This Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan is intended to:

o establish a clear, consistent and structured approach to how Street 
Scene will inspect and maintain trees on land owned and managed by 
Doncaster Council so as to maximise the benefits that they provide 
whilst keeping the risk they pose within acceptable limits; 

o to provide a framework for decision-making and prioritising of tree works 
for Street Scene Officers to ensure that decisions on tree pruning and 
removal are consistent and balanced against the positive contribution 
that trees make to the environment and their enjoyment by local 
communities;

o to act as a source of information for residents about the management of 
municipal trees within the borough; and

o to support the main vision of the Council to find new ways of working to 
continue to grow the local economy and place, and to develop public 
services in a way that ensures all of Doncaster’s people and 
communities benefit with an improved quality of life in Doncaster.

BACKGROUND

9. Doncaster Council is responsible for many thousands of trees growing in its 
woodlands, parks and open spaces, cemeteries, housing estates, industrial 
estates and alongside the highway. Along with the many thousands of trees 
in private property they comprise an ‘urban forest’ that significantly 
enhances the quality of life in the urban environment, and forms an integral 
part of its shape, colour and diversity. 

10. The urban forest also confers economic benefits to Doncaster: 

o directly, through wood products, such as timber or biomass fuel; and 

o indirectly, through eco-system services, including the production of 
oxygen, offsetting of carbon emissions, absorption of air pollutants, 
slowing of storm-water run-off and moderation of urban temperatures. 

Page 12



11. However, although trees are a positive feature, they can also cause a range 
of problems, from being a nuisance or inconvenience to potentially causing 
serious injury or property damage. Doncaster Council has a legal ‘duty of 
care’ to consider the risks posed by trees on its land so it is important that 
whilst we must aim to maximise the benefits that the urban forest provides 
we must also take precautions to keep the risk that individual trees pose to 
people and property as low as reasonably practicable.

12. Theme 2: Trees and Woodlands of the Doncaster Green Infrastructure 
Strategy 2014-2028, which was adopted by the Council in 2014, identified 
many of the challenges facing urban tree management in the borough and 
set out the broad strategic direction for the management of trees and 
woodland in both public and private ownership that is required to preserve a 
functioning urban forest. 

13. In support of these aims, eight headline principles were set out. Those 
shown in bold below are promoted through this policy:

A. Every opportunity will be taken to establish new trees and expand our 
woodland estate on appropriate sites within the Borough.

B. The pruning or felling of trees will be resisted, unless:
o there is a sound reason to justify the proposed work;
o no alternative solution can be found; and
o replacement planting is carried out where felling is allowed.

C. Powers under planning legislation will be used to protect existing trees as 
appropriate and seek new planting (in relation to both existing protected 
trees and opportunities associated with development proposals).

D. The use of current best practice and appropriately trained 
arboricultural operatives in carrying out all tree work within the 
borough will be promoted.

E. A proactive management system will be adopted for the Council’s tree 
resource, and any necessary work identified during on-going health 
and safety inspections will be carried out within the timescale 
specified.

F. The Council will aim to inform tree owners of their legal 
responsibilities with regard to their trees and will, where appropriate, 
use its statutory powers to implement works to privately owned trees 
in the interests of public safety. 

G. The Council will manage its own woodland estate sustainably and to 
meet the multipurpose objectives of biodiversity, recreation, access, 
education, geodiversity and landscape value, and to help offset the 
impacts of climate change, and will encourage sustainable 

Page 13



management and increased public access for privately owned 
woodland within the borough.

H. The Council will seek to investigate breaches of planning legislation 
relating to protected trees and for unauthorised works to its own trees 
and woodlands, including theft of timber, and will seek to take 
proportionate action where deemed appropriate. 

14. The Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan is intended to embed 
these principles into municipal tree management practices and establish a 
clear, consistent and structured approach as to how Street Scene will 
maintain trees on Doncaster Council land.

15. To do this, the document includes a policy framework to ensure that 
decisions on the pruning or removal of trees on land owned and managed 
by Doncaster Council are balanced against the positive contribution that 
trees make to the environment and its enjoyment by local communities. The 
policy reflects the minimum standard necessary for Doncaster Council to 
maintain the current level of benefits that trees provide and to meet its legal 
obligations in the management of trees in its ownership. 

16. Tree canopy coverage (syn. “the layer of leaves, branches and tree stems 
that cover the ground when viewed from above”) can be used as a proxy for 
the benefits provided by the urban forest by linking the area of canopy cover 
to the ecosystem services provided by trees. Doncaster’s tree canopy 
coverage (including both municipal and private trees) has been estimated at 
12.2%, the lowest in South Yorkshire (average of 16.4% - Rotherham, 
15.6%; Sheffield, 18.4%; Barnsley, 19.2%) and below the average for 
England of 16% (based on 283 towns and cities). Furthermore, the Urban 
Forestry and Woodland Advisory Committee (FWAC) Network, advisers to 
the Forestry Commission on urban forestry, recommends that a canopy 
cover of 20% is a good aspiration.

17. However, the perceived value of trees varies greatly amongst Doncaster’s 
residents and communities and the tree resource is being placed under 
increasing pressure as a reaction to real or perceived problems, increased 
contact with human activity and through the demand for land for 
development and economic growth. All too often, the value that trees confer 
is not fully recognised or understood and pressure is applied for 
unnecessary pruning or removal of healthy trees in order to be seen to be 
‘doing something’. Such reactive work is rarely in the best interests of the 
tree or cost effective, sets a poor example to residents and private sector 
tree owners and results in a reduction in tree canopy coverage and the 
benefits provided by the urban forest.

18. Doncaster’s municipal tree resource is widespread and diverse and trees on 
Council land are currently managed by responding to complaints concerning 
specific trees as they arise (syn. ‘reactive management’). This reactive 
approach to tree management:

o is an inefficient use of resources, requiring the Council’s tree officers and 
arborists to move about the borough to attend to jobs on individual trees 

Page 14



as they arise rather than working on whole streets or groups of trees at 
once;

o results in the inspection and management of only a fraction of the tree 
resource on Council land (i.e. only those with a complaint raised); 

o results in ad-hoc and inconsistent maintenance practices; 

o is vulnerable to being difficult to defend (health and Safety at Work Act 
and legal liability) in the event of a tree failure incident; and

o prevents financial planning of the tree management service. 

19. The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) considers that “for trees in a 
frequently visited zone, a system for periodic, proactive checks is 
appropriate”. Therefore, whilst reactive tree maintenance will always form a 
key element of overall tree maintenance operations (e.g. for emergency 
works resulting from high winds), we are moving to a proactive approach to 
the management of trees through a programme of routine tree inspections 
to identify and prioritise necessary tree maintenance work. 

20. This new approach to tree maintenance will be applied to all trees under the 
direct management of Street Scene (i.e. on parks, open spaces and 
highways) and to those where Street Scene is acting as a managing agent 
(e.g. land managed by St Leger Homes Doncaster, other Council 
departments or schools where a service level agreement is in place for tree 
maintenance). 

21.This change in approach will fully utilise the Council’s computerised tree 
management system, which will record the location, species and size of all 
trees on Council owned and managed land, to form the basis of the routine 
inspection system and keep records of inspections and recommended and 
completed works for every tree under Street Scene’s management. To date, 
32,000 municipal trees have been added to the database on parks and open 
spaces, highways, cemeteries and St Leger Homes Doncaster managed 
land. It is estimated that surveying will take two years to complete but the 
proactive inspection system can be rolled out as each land holding is 
completed.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED

22. Continue with the current reactive approach to the management of trees on 
Council land. This is not the recommended option.

23. Produce a tree policy and tree risk management plan to support the 
transformation to a proactive approach to the management of trees on 
Council land. This is the recommended option.

24. Adopting the Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan will:

o implement the principles and actions of Theme 2: Trees and Woodlands 
of the Doncaster Green Infrastructure Strategy 2014-2028 to help 
produce a healthy, extensive and well managed municipal tree 
population that will be resilient to the impacts of climate change and will 
maximise the benefits that trees can provide;

Page 15



o help the Council meet its legal ‘duty of care’ to consider the risks posed 
by trees on its land by providing a framework for tree risk management 
of municipal trees; 

o provide a framework for decision-making and prioritising of tree works 
for Street Scene Officers and act as a source of information about the 
management of municipal trees within the borough for residents; and

o support the main vision of the Council to find new ways of working to 
continue to grow the local economy and place, and to develop public 
services in a way that ensures all of Doncaster’s people and 
communities benefit with an improved quality of life in Doncaster.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

25.
Outcomes Implications 
Doncaster Working: Our vision is for 
more people to be able to pursue their 
ambitions through work that gives 
them and Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future;

 Better access to good fulfilling work
 Doncaster businesses are 

supported to flourish
  Inward Investment

Research has shown that there 
are strong links between 
business investment / 
relocation decisions and the 
quality of the landscape. 

The natural environment, 
including an extensive, well 
managed urban forest, is a key 
economic asset for the 
borough in attracting future 
investment.

Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a 
borough that is vibrant and full of 
opportunity, where people enjoy 
spending time;

 The town centres are the beating 
heart of Doncaster

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities 
through Physical Activity and Sport

 Everyone takes responsibility for 
keeping Doncaster Clean

 Building on our cultural, artistic and 
sporting heritage

The quality of the natural 
environment is a major 
determinant of health and well-
being. Research has shown a 
strong link between the quality 
of natural environments and 
improved sense of 
psychological well-being and 
increased motivation for 
participation in exercise and 
recreation. 

The urban forest is a highly 
visible component of the 
borough’s landscapes and 
confers significant benefits in 
creating attractive, high quality 
environments with 
opportunities for contact with 
nature.

Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for 
learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life that 

Air quality is an issue of 
national concern, particularly 
from particulate air pollution, 

Page 16



is fulfilling;

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within and 
beyond school

 Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good or 
better

 Learning in Doncaster prepares 
young people for the world of work 

which can exacerbate asthma 
and other respiratory 
conditions in children. Air 
pollution has also been linked 
to significant reductions in 
intelligence. Parts of the 
borough suffer elevated levels 
of air pollution, principally from 
traffic-generated sources.

The urban forest acts like an 
air filter, intercepting airborne 
particulates and producing 
oxygen, helping to enhance a 
community's respiratory and 
mental health.

Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a 
borough that cares together for its 
most vulnerable residents;

 Children have the best start in life
 Vulnerable families and individuals 

have support from someone they 
trust

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes

Connected Council: 
 A modern, efficient and flexible 

workforce
 Modern, accessible customer 

interactions
 Operating within our resources and 

delivering value for money
 A co-ordinated, whole person, 

whole life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents

 Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance 

The proactive management of 
trees on Council land reduces 
inefficiency and helps financial 
planning of the tree 
management service.

The urban forest also confers 
indirect economic benefit 
through the provision of 
ecosystem services, including 
the production of oxygen, 
offsetting carbon emissions, 
absorbing pollution, slowing 
storm-water run-off and 
moderating urban 
temperatures that would 
otherwise have to be 
counteracted by an engineered 
alternative. A particular issue 
for Doncaster is its carbon 
footprint - the borough was 
ranked 59th of 63 cities for its 
CO2 emissions per capita by 
Centre for Cities, 2016.

Page 17



RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

26. Good quality performance management arrangements ensure that priorities 
are achieved and good quality services are delivered to the residents of 
Doncaster.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [HL 23.10.2018.]

27. As a landowner, the Council has a duty of care to ensure that as far as 
reasonably practicable, all of the trees on its land are kept in acceptable, 
condition and do not put persons and property at unreasonable risk.  The 
Tree Risk Management Plan will provide a framework for the Council to 
carry out regular inspections of trees, to identify at the earliest possible time 
any risks, so that preventative action can be taken where appropriate.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [MS  23.10.2018.]

28. There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. Any 
costs arising from implementing proactive management processes would be 
addressed through existing budgets and proactive management would be 
expected to derive savings through reductions in inefficiency.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS [DK  25.10.2018.]

29. There are no immediate HR implications arising from this report and the 
proposed Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan. However, any 
future changes that impact on the workforce will require HR engagement 
and would involve separate approval as appropriate.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [PW  24.10.2018.]

30. There are no specific technology implications associated with this report. 
The Council has already purchased an electronic tree management system 
and dedicated tree surveying tablet devices, as agreed by the Technology 
Governance Board (TGB) in July 14. Where further technology 
requirements are identified to support the delivery of the Tree Policy and/or 
Tree Risk Management Plan, these will also need to be considered by TGB.

HEALTH IMPLICATIONS [CT  30.10.2018.]

31. Trees play an important role in the health and wellbeing of the population.  
Not only do they lend beauty to our communities; time spent in natural 
environments has demonstrated mental and physical health benefits. Tree-
lined streets encourage walking. Shaded areas such as gardens and parks 
entice families and children to spend more time outdoors and recreational 
trails with natural landscaping are key to people spending more time 
cycling, and walking.  

32. Trees also help to clean and cool the air and reduce harmful air pollutants 
and air temperatures and provide areas for people to shade as they travel 
about the borough. 

Page 18



33. Public Health supports the transformation to a proactive approach to the 
management of trees on Council land.  However, in relation to any works 
that mean any loss of tree infrastructure Public Health would recommend a 
Health Impact Assessment be conducted as part of the decision making 
process.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS [TB  16/10/2018.]

34. There are no significant equality implications associated with this report. The 
document provides a framework for decision-making and prioritising of tree 
works for Street Scene Officers to ensure that decisions on tree pruning and 
removal are consistent for all Doncaster residents and businesses, and as a 
source of information for residents about the management of municipal 
trees within the borough.

CONSULTATION

35. The policy is implementing the principles and actions of the Doncaster 
Green Infrastructure Strategy 2014 to 2028, which was adopted by the 
Council in 2014 following a full consultation exercise. Details can be found 
at: http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/planning/green-infrastructure-
strategy

36. The Strategy & Performance Unit were consulted on the document and 
suggested some changes around accountability (governance of the policy 
and when updates/refreshes will occur); conclusions, measures and 
actions; and contact details. Amendments have been made to strengthen 
these areas.

37. Assistant Directors Dave Wilkinson (Assistant Director of Trading Services 
and Assets) and Tracey Harwood (Acting Assistant Director of Environment) 
were consulted on the document and the process of adoption. The 
document was supported without amendment. 

38. Portfolio Holders Cllrs Joe Blackham (Highways, Street Scene and Trading 
Services) and Chris McGuiness (Communities, Voluntary Sector and the 
Environment) were consulted on the document and the process of adoption. 
The document was supported without amendment subject to putting before 
the Communities and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Panel as an 
information item.

39. Whilst the document does not constitute a key decision, as the policies are 
consistent with the principles and actions of Theme 2: Trees and 
Woodlands of the Doncaster Green Infrastructure Strategy 2014-2028, 
which was approved by Cabinet in 2014, it will be formally adopted through 
an ODR. Any recommendations or comments offered up by this panel will 
be considered by the decision maker before signing off the decision.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

40. The Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan for Doncaster Council’s 

Page 19



Trees and Woodlands. Attached as Appendix A.

41. The Doncaster Green Infrastructure Strategy 2014-2028, available at: 
http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/planning/green-infrastructure-strategy

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Tim Bryant, Tree and Woodlands Officer, Street Scene
01302 737961 tim.bryant@doncaster.gov.uk

Peter Dale
Director of Regeneration and Environment

Page 20



 

1 

 

 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan for Doncaster 

Council’s Trees and Woodlands 

 

 

 

 

Version History 

Version Number Date Amended Amended By Checked By 

1 13.06.2018 T Bryant  

2.1 05.09.2018 T Bryant  

2.2 25.09.2018 T Bryant  

 

  

P
age 21



 

2 

 

CONTENTS 

1.0 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

2.0 Scope ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Objectives ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

4.0 Review Process ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

5.0 The Benefits Of Trees .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

6.0 Tree Related problems ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 6 

7.0 Tree Management Policies ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

POLICY 1 – Managing Trees .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

POLICY 2 – Maintaining Trees ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 8 

POLICY 3 – Planting Trees ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

POLICY 4 – The Woodland Estate ......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

POLICY 5 – Protecting Trees .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 12 

POLICY 6 – Tree Management Standards ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 14 

POLICY 7 – Private Trees ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

8.0 Common Law Rights .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

9.0 Risk Management ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

9.1 Quantifying Risk ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 15 

9.2 Proactive Tree Inspection ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 16 

9.3 Risk Zoning........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 16 

10.0 Tree Valuation ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

11.0 Pests And Diseases ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 17 

12.0 Tree Replacement Requirements ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 18 

13.0 Constraints On Tree Management ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

13.1 Protected Trees ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

13.2 Felling Licence ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 19 

13.3 Birds ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 19 

13.4 Bats ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 19 

14 Conclusions, Actions And Monitoring ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

P
age 22



 

3 

 

14.1 Action Plan ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

14.2 Annual Monitoring ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

14.3 Five Year Review (2023) ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 20 

APPENDIX A – Guidelines On Tree Inspection ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

APPENDIX B – Guidelines on Tree Management ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

APPENDIX C – Guidelines On Tree Pruning Operations ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 32 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 23



 

4 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

Trees are long-lived community assets, which are essential to our health 

and well-being, not only in enhancing our enjoyment of the street scene, 

but by reducing some of the adverse impacts of urban environments. 

However, they can also cause of a range of problems, from being a 

nuisance or inconvenience to potentially causing serious injury or property 

damage.  

 

This policy document aims to implement the broad aims and actions set 

out in Theme 2: Trees and Woodlands of the Doncaster Green 

Infrastructure Strategy, which was adopted by Doncaster Council in 2014, 

to ensure that Doncaster’s urban forest helps contribute to high quality 

urban environments and to establish a clear, consistent and structured 

approach to how Street Scene will maintain trees on Doncaster Council 

owned land. 

2.0 SCOPE 

The scope of the policy extends to all trees and woodland under the direct 

management of Street Scene (i.e. on parks, open spaces and highways) 

and to those where Street Scene is acting as a managing agent (e.g. for 

other Council departments or schools under a service level agreement). 

This policy does not cover protected trees, which are administered by 

Doncaster Council’s Planning department, or trees on land not owned by 

Doncaster Council. 

3.0 OBJECTIVES 

This policy has been designed for the following purposes: 

o to implement the principles of Theme 2: Trees and Woodlands of 

the Doncaster Green Infrastructure Strategy 2014-2028; 

o to act as a source of information about the management of public 

trees within the borough; 

o to provide a risk management framework for Doncaster Council’s 

trees and woodland; 

o to provide a policy framework to guide decisions by Street Scene 

Officers that affect trees on Doncaster Council land; and 

o to support the main vision of the Council to find new ways of 

working to develop public services in a way that ensures all of 

Doncaster’s people and communities benefit with an improved 

quality of life in Doncaster . 

4.0 REVIEW PROCESS 

The effectiveness of the policy will be monitored by the Council’s Tree and 

Woodlands Officer annually and will be reviewed every five years to take 

account of changes in industry best practice, Council policy, legislation 

and legal judgments relating to tree risk management and emerging asset 

data about the composition of the urban forest. Further details on the 

monitoring and review of the document can be found in section 14.0. 

P
age 24



 

5 

 

5.0 THE BENEFITS OF TREES 

Trees, wherever they stand, make a valuable contribution to the quality of 

life for Doncaster’s residents. The urban forest is one of the most visible 

parts of the green infrastructure network and provides a multitude of 

benefits for society. 

Air cleaning: trees produce oxygen, intercept airborne particulates, and 

reduce smog, enhancing a community's respiratory health; 
 

Climate change: trees sequester carbon (CO2), reducing the overall 

concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere; 
 

Water filtration and retention: trees capture and slow rainfall, which 

reduces storm-water runoff and reduces flood risk, and their roots filter 

water and recharge the aquifer;  
 

Reducing climate extremes: the evaporative cooling from trees in 

summer reduces urban temperatures, and trees can trap warm air in their 

canopies and release it back into the environment in the evening; 
 

Reducing wind speeds and noise: trees filter wind and noise passing 

through their canopy, reducing their impact; 
 

Aesthetic and visual amenity benefits: without trees, the built 

environment would be a sterile collection of concrete, steel and tarmac;  
 

Improving liveability and quality of urban life: trees provide a link to 

nature and the changing seasons and contribute to human physical and 

mental health and relaxation; and 
 

Biodiversity: trees provide habitat for a wide variety of wildlife. 
 

The research establishing the many tangible contributions of trees to 

health and wellbeing also shows clearly that benefits are strongly related 

to size, with the largest trees providing the greatest benefits. It is 

important, therefore, that trees, particularly large canopied species, are not 

unnecessarily lost from the landscape, or have their capacity to provide 

benefits reduced by unnecessary, harmful pruning. 

 

P
age 25



 

6 

 

6.0 TREE RELATED PROBLEMS 

The Council receive many enquiries each year raising concerns about 

trees on its land. Whilst we recognise that the removal or pruning of trees 

is sometimes necessary, requests are frequently based on unfounded 

fears or a misguided belief that trees need to be regularly pruned. Trees 

that are free from defect have the ability to withstand the stresses created 

by stormy and other adverse weather conditions. Occasionally, a few trees 

fail, whether in part (a branch) or in full (uproot) but, through a programme 

of regular inspection, those trees that pose an unacceptable risk of harm 

to persons or property can be identified and given appropriate remedial 

work to reduce the risk to an acceptable level. 

In order to conserve and sustain the public tree resource and maximise 

the benefits that it can provide it is essential that individual issues are dealt 

with consistently and that decisions on tree pruning and removal are 

balanced against the positive contribution that trees make to the 

environment and its enjoyment by local communities. 

Within Doncaster there are a number of recurring sources of complaint or 

concern, including: 

o tree size; 

o overhanging and low branches; 

o epicormic growth; 

o shading and loss of light; 

o loss of a view; 

o interference with TV and satellite reception; 

o falling leaves, twigs, blossom, fruit and nuts;  

o sticky deposits from honeydew; 

o physical damage to structures such as buildings, walls, footpaths 

and driveways; 

o root encroachment and moisture depletion subsidence damage; 

and 

o damage to drains or pipes. 

 

7.0 TREE MANAGEMENT POLICIES 

POLICY 1 – MANAGING TREES 

All trees on Doncaster Council land will be managed 

proactively through routine inspections at a frequency 

proportionate to the risk that they pose to identify potential 

hazards and to specify and prioritise any tree maintenance 

work required to keep any risk of harm or damage as low as 

reasonably practicable. 

The principle aim of this policy is to put in operation a reasonable, 

defensible and proactive tree management system that conserves and 

enhances the tree population on land for which Doncaster Council is 

responsible and makes efficient use of available resources. 

Nothing in life is entirely safe. People assess risks and make decisions 

about them constantly in everyday life.  

P
age 26



 

7 

 

The risk of being struck and killed by a tree or branch falling is actually 

extremely low – in the order of 1 in 10 million for those trees in or adjacent 

to areas of high public use (Health and Safety Executive, 2007). However, 

it is not generally perceived in this way by the public, particularly following 

any tree failure incident, and, all too often, pressure is applied for 

unnecessary pruning or removal of healthy trees in order to be seen to be 

‘doing something’. To put this risk of harm into perspective, table 1 

illustrates the risk of death from a range of hazards. 

Table 1: Risk of an individual dying in any one year from a range of hazards source: 

British Medical Association, 1987) 

Activity Risk of an Individual Dying in Any One Year 

Smoking 10 cigarettes a day 1 in 200 

Influenza 1 in 500 

Road accident 1 in 8,000 

Playing football 1 in 25,000 

Accident at home 1 in 26,000 

Accident at work 1 in 43,000 

Struck by lightning 1 in 10,000,000 

 

Doncaster Council is responsible for many thousands of trees growing in 

its woodlands, parks and open spaces, cemeteries, housing estates, 

industrial estates and alongside the highway and has a legal ‘duty of care’ 

to consider the risks posed by its trees to users of its land and neighbours 

and ensure that the risk of harm to persons and property is as low as 

‘reasonably practicable’. The legal framework does not require the 

elimination of risk altogether - to do so would create an unacceptable loss 

of the many benefits that trees provide.  

The Health and Safety Executive (2007) considers that “for trees in a 

frequently visited zone, a system for periodic, proactive checks is 

appropriate”. 

In order to limit the risk of significant harm from tree failure all trees under 

the management of Street Scene are being recorded and mapped on an 

electronic tree management system and will be cyclically inspected, at a 

frequency determined by the type and number of targets within falling 

distance (see section 9.0).  

 

P
age 27



 

8 

 

POLICY 2 – MAINTAINING TREES  

All tree work operations specified and carried out on trees on 

Doncaster Council land will be undertaken in accordance with 

arboricultural best practice and the pruning or felling of trees 

on Council land will be resisted, unless there is a sound 

reason and no alternative solution can be found. 

Tree maintenance work is sometimes desirable, or necessary, to improve 

tree structure, limit inconvenience or maintain safety.  However, all tree 

pruning has an impact upon the health and structure of a tree and there 

needs be sound justification for it. Necessary tree work will be identified 

during cyclical proactive inspections (see section 9.2) and prioritised for 

completion according to urgency, with safety issues given the greatest 

weighting. General tree enquiries or requests for service may be made 

through the Council’s contact centre. However, where a routine survey has 

been completed, or is due, on a tree within 18 months of the date of an 

enquiry no further action may be taken until the next routine survey, unless 

works necessary, to maintain safety are identified. 

In order to conserve the public tree resource, and maximise the benefits 

that it provides, our first consideration when assessing trees will be the 

impact on the community. For example, we don’t usually do any work that 

will benefit an individual but will result in a loss to the community. 

Additionally, because of the limited funding available for tree work we need 

to carefully manage the need for tree pruning and will always give priority 

to health and safety issues, such as :- 

o unsafe trees; 

o trees touching / damaging buildings; or 

o trees obstructing footpaths, roads, street-lamps or road-signs. 

This means that there will be requests for pruning or other work on trees 

that are not considered a priority and will normally be declined. Whilst it is 

not possible to anticipate every situation, the tables at Appendix B will be 

used to guide decisions on whether tree pruning or removal will be carried 

out and to ensure that requests for works to trees on Council land are 

dealt with efficiently, consistently and fairly. 

All tree work will be completed in line with current British Standards 

(BS3998: Tree Work – Recommendations). We will not do any work that 

exceeds these recommendations, except where there is no alternative to 

comply with legal requirements. Further guidance on tree pruning 

operations can be found at Appendix C. 

P
age 28



 

9 

 

POLICY 3 – PLANTING TREES 

Every opportunity will be taken to plant new trees to expand 

our urban forest and woodland estate on appropriate sites 

throughout the borough, and planting practice will seek to 

ensure that all transplanted trees achieve independence in the 

landscape and reach their full genetic potential. 

The planting of trees is essential to produce a diverse urban forest that will 

be resilient to climate change and pest and disease outbreaks and to help 

maintain tree canopy coverage and the range and magnitude of 

environmental benefits that Doncaster’s urban forest provides.  

Doncaster Council will continue to plant trees on its land as part of its 

winter works programme, more specifically between November and 

February, and we will seek to plant twice as many trees each year as we 

remove.  

To achieve this we will, wherever possible: 

o plant replacement trees at minimum heavy standard size on a 

one-for-one basis for every tree we remove in the course of 

routine arboricultural operations;  

o plant replacement trees at a rate proportionate to the trunk 

diameter of a felled tree (see section 12.0) where the removal is 

undertaken for other reasons; 

o require the funding to plant replacement trees at the appropriate 

replacement rate where acting as managing agent; 

o look for opportunities to secure additional funding to plant new 

trees and groups of trees at appropriate nursery stock size in 

suitable locations, particularly in areas with low tree canopy 

coverage; and 

o look for opportunities to expand our woodland estate at 

appropriate locations using both natural regeneration and 

transplants. 
 

P
age 29



 

10 

 

When selecting new trees, we will follow the principle that the ‘right tree’ is 

planted in the ‘right place’ and in a way that allows each tree to thrive in 

the landscape and reach its full genetic potential (size). Careful species 

choice will seek to create a robust tree resource by encouraging diversity 

through use of a wide range of native, naturalised and exotic tree species 

and cultivars, except in rural areas, ancient semi-natural woods, green belt 

or nature conservation sites where priority will be given to local 

provenance, native species.  

 

 

Woodland planting has been shown as a cost effective way of managing 

land and woodland creation can attract grant funding. Any new woodland 

planting proposals will be considered carefully for their long term 

implications, particularly with regard to cost, to avoid developing a burden 

on already limited resources and so consideration must be made of long 

term funding for such sites, for example through timber production. 

 

POLICY 4 – THE WOODLAND ESTATE 

Any management we undertake in our woodland estate will 

conform to sustainable forest management principles, be 

appropriate for the site and will be balanced with the 

multipurpose objectives of biodiversity, recreation, access, 

education, geodiversity and landscape value, and helping to 

offset the impacts of climate change. 

Our woods vary hugely. Some sites are much more valuable and sensitive 

(ecologically, culturally and/or visually) than others and the amount and 

type of management undertaken needs to reflect this. However, we also 

recognise that our woods must deliver an income from sustainable 

harvesting of wood products, such as timber and biomass, to support 

management and improvement works across the whole estate.  

 

P
age 30



 

11 

 

Doncaster Council’s woodland estate provides free public access and we 

will seek to ensure that sites are safe and welcoming for visitors through 

carrying out regular safety inspections of infrastructure (e.g. car parks, 

boundary fenestration, paths and signs). 

Woodland sites perform a range of qualitative functions. Whilst each wood 

will contribute to more than one function, knowing the priority objective for 

each site helps to create a decision hierarchy when setting work priorities 

in woodland management plans, which will be produced for every site. 

Amenity Woods: those whose principal asset is as a visual or other 

amenity within a local situation; 
 

Community Action Woods: those associated with a particular community 

and require the involvement and active engagement of the community to 

be successfully managed; 
 

Conservation Woods: those designated as, or located adjacent to, Sites 

of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) or Local Nature Reserves (LNR), or 

non-designated woods identified from field work as having particular 

wildlife interest that should be maintained or enhanced through active 

management; 
 

Landscape Woods: those that are prominent in the wider landscape and 

their contribution to that landscape overrides other management 

considerations; 
 

PAWS (Planted Ancient Woodland Site) Restoration Woods: ancient 

woodland sites that are currently dominated by non-native species but 

have the potential to be reverted to semi natural woodland; and 
 

Productive Woods: those which, by merit of species composition, 

infrastructure, location or accessibility can be managed principally to 

produce timber on a long term, rotational basis and hence contribute to the 

financing of other woodland activities and services where income 

generation is not possible. 

 

A cornerstone of our woodland management strategy is the network of key 

managed woods. A key managed wood is defined as one “whose 

objectives will only be achieved through active woodland management and 

which is therefore a priority for the attention of the Council”.  

Whereas some woods can achieve their defined objectives passively (e.g. 

the woods of the Don Gorge that contribute enormously to the gorge 

landscape and are also important for wildlife and public amenity, but there 

is little silvicultural management that could be proposed that will enhance 

this status), a key managed wood will fall short of its aims unless it is 

actively managed. These key managed woods offer the best opportunity 

for delivery of overall woodland objectives by the quickest possible means, 

and will help support management of the remaining estate through income 

generation and are, therefore, the main focus of management. 

P
age 31



 

12 

 

The majority of silvicultural management 

will be through thinning. Whilst these 

works will provide an income, we must 

also recognise opportunities to exploit the 

commercial potential of single-species, 

non-native plantations in some of our 

woods, which have the potential for a 

greater economic return for reinvestment 

in woodland management and 

infrastructure improvements. Therefore, in 

some situations, we will undertake clear 

felling or select felling (and restocking) 

where the landscape impact will be limited. 

Woodland often provides appropriate 

conditions for species of open ground 

habitats that are threatened in the wider 

landscape, so we will seek to restore and 

maintain existing rides and glades and, 

where appropriate, create new ones to 

enhance biodiversity and enjoyment for 

visitors.  

Many woodland sites are relatively 

undisturbed and conserve historical or 

cultural features, such as remnants of 

charcoal and saw pits, historic boundary 

ditches and more modern buildings (e.g. 

ice houses). We will seek to protect these 

features and, where appropriate, provide 

interpretation for the benefit of visitors.  

Conserving existing veteran trees is of 

great importance for biodiversity and a 

habitat priority in the Doncaster 

Biodiversity Action Plan. A veteran tree is a 

tree that is “of interest biologically, culturally 

or aesthetically because of its age, size or 

condition”. One of their key values is the 

amount and variety of deadwood they 

provide which is, in turn, an important 

resource for rare fungi and insects. We will 

manage our woods to protect and nurture 

veteran trees, for example by removing 

vigorous plantation trees that are 

overshadowing them. 

POLICY 5 – PROTECTING TREES  

Doncaster Council will seek 

prosecution of and/or compensation 

from any person or organisation 

responsible for causing malicious 

damage to or removing any council 

owned tree(s) or for the theft of 

timber from its land.  

Ideally we would like there to be no 

incidences of damage to trees on Doncaster 

Council land. However, the perceived value 

of trees varies greatly amongst Doncaster’s 

residents and communities and the public 

tree resource is being placed under 

increasing pressure as a reaction to real or 

perceived problems related to trees (e.g. 

perceived fear of tree failure or blocking of 

sunlight) and increased contact with human 

activity (e.g. land development and 

installation of utility services).  

P
age 32



 

13 

 

Malicious damage includes the unauthorised pruning or felling of a mature 

or semi-mature tree or the wanton vandalism of a newly planted tree on 

Council owned land, and may constitute criminal damage. In addition, with 

the increasing popularity of woodburners the theft of timber from our 

woodland estate is becoming an increasing problem. 

 

We encourage local communities to report incidents of vandalism or illegal 

felling or pruning of Council trees. Incidents should be reported to South 

Yorkshire Police on their non-emergency number: 101 and then reported 

to the Council’s tree team via the contact centre.  

We will investigate all incidents of alleged damage or theft to us and make 

a reasoned decision whether it merits further action. In making this 

decision, the decisive issue is whether the damage has unacceptably 

affected the wider public amenity. Where appropriate, we will calculate a 

monetary valuation for the amenity of a damaged tree (see section 10.0) 

or for stolen timber to assist in making a decision and to support any 

prosecution. 

Even though a successful prosecution cannot remedy the damage caused 

it can have an important deterrent effect and we will publicise incidents to 

increase public knowledge as a deterrent to others. 

UTILITY SERVICE MAINTENANCE AND INSTALLATION 

Utility companies have a statutory right of undertakers to carry out works 

within the public highway in order to provide and maintain their apparatus. 

There is no need for damage to be caused by the installation and 

maintenance of utilities if work is properly planned, taking account of the 

presence of trees. However, there have been several instances of work 

leading to extensive root damage to trees.  

We cannot unreasonably withhold permission for utility maintenance work 

but expect that the National Joint Utility Group (NJUG) guidelines are 

followed in all work around trees. All statutory undertakers have voluntarily 

signed up to this industry code of practice. 

If a tree is damaged by utility works to a degree that can be remediated 

without tree removal then the utility contractor will be pursued for the full 

costs of remedial works.  

 

P
age 33



 

14 

 

 

If a tree is damaged to a degree that requires removal then the contractor 

will be pursued for the full costs of remedial works including tree and 

stump removal and replacement planting at a rate proportionate to the 

trunk diameter of the damaged tree (see section 12.0). 

POLICY 6 – TREE MANAGEMENT STANDARDS 

All staff employed in the inspection and maintenance of trees 

on Doncaster Council land will be appropriately trained and all 

work will be specified and undertaken in accordance with 

current arboricultural best practice.  

Doncaster Council makes every effort to ensure that the tree work it 

carries out is of the highest standard and complies with current industry 

best practice. Maintaining an appropriately qualified and competent tree 

inspection and maintenance team is critical to the defensibility of the tree 

risk management plan. All our staff employed for the purpose of 

inspecting, managing and maintaining trees on Doncaster Council land are 

trained and competent to carry out all arboricultural operations relevant to 

their role. These competencies are kept up to date through regular training 

and updating of qualifications. 

All woodland (silvicultural) work will be specified and carried out to comply 

with the UK Forestry Standard and Forest Industry Safety Accord 

guidelines. All contractors working in Doncaster Council woodland sites 

will be vetted through the procurement process. 

POLICY 7 – PRIVATE TREES  

The Council will aim to inform private tree owners of their legal 

responsibilities with regard to their trees and will, where 

appropriate, use its statutory powers to implement works to 

privately owned trees in the interests of public safety. 

As well as its legal ‘duty of care’ to consider the risks posed by trees on its 

own land, Doncaster Council has responsibilities under the Highways Act, 

and powers under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 

and in common law, to ensure that members of the public are not put at 

risk by trees on privately owned land. 

Where concerns are raised about the safety of a privately owned tree, a 

site visit will be made and an individual tree risk assessment carried out. 

Where clear and present signs of immediate instability (i.e. uprooting or 

other structural failure) are found the tree owner will be notified and 

advised what remedial work is necessary and given a timescale for 

completion.  

Where defects that are not imminently hazardous are found or suspected 

Doncaster Council has no powers to intervene, but will seek to advise tree 

owners of their duty of care with respect to trees on their land.  

Whilst it is not possible to anticipate every situation, table B1 at Appendix 

B will be used to guide decisions on what action Street Scene will take 

following allegations of dangerous trees on privately owned land and 

whether the Council will seek to recover its costs from the land owner. 

P
age 34



 

15 

 

8.0 COMMON LAW RIGHTS  

In the English legal system, ‘Common Law’ refers to laws that have been 

developed through precedent set by similar court cases, as opposed to 

being created through legislative statutes. Under English Common Law, 

property owners have a right to remove (abate) the nuisance associated 

with trees encroaching onto their property. The following advice is given 

for someone wishing to exercise their Common Law right with respect to 

the encroachment of Council owned trees: 

o you can only consider removing those parts of the tree from the 

point where they cross the boundary of your property and have no 

legal right to cut or remove any part of a tree that does not 

overhang your property; 

o legally, you do not own the encroaching branches, although, 

Doncaster Council does not require, nor expect, to have these 

returned and you should make appropriate arrangements to 

dispose of them yourself (e.g. in your green bin); 

o you are strongly advised to consult a professional arborist for 

guidance on how best to prune back encroaching trees, unless the 

works are such that you could do the works with hand secateurs or 

similar; 

o there is no legal right of access to Doncaster Council land to 

undertake tree work; 

o unauthorised persons are not allowed to use a chainsaw or other 

power tools and equipment in parks or public open spaces; and 

o before you consider doing any works to a tree you should find out 

if it is protected by a Tree Preservation Order or within a 

Conservation Area (section 13.1) as you will need to get consent 

from the Local Planning Authority for any works if the trees are 

protected. 

Failure to follow the above guidance when pruning a Council owned 

tree may be classed as malicious damage and may result in 

enforcement action. 

9.0 RISK MANAGEMENT  

9.1 QUANTIFYING RISK 

In order to make proactive inspections of all Council owned trees as 

efficient and effective as possible, an inspection method, known as 

Quantified Tree Risk Assessment (QTRA), has been adopted. 

According to the method’s author and developer, QTRA and tree safety 

management is in essence: 

“A matter of limiting the risk of significant harm from tree failure whilst 

maintaining the benefits conferred by trees. Although it may seem 

counterintuitive, the condition of trees should not be the first consideration. 

Instead, tree managers should consider first the usage of the land on 

which the trees stand, which in turn will inform the process of assessing 

the trees.” 

The QTRA system applies established and accepted risk management 

principles to tree safety management. Firstly, the targets (people and 

property) upon which trees could fall are assessed and quantified, thus 

enabling tree managers to determine whether or not and to what degree of 

rigour a survey or inspection of the trees is required. Where necessary, the 

tree or branch is then considered in terms of both impact potential (size) 

and probability of failure. Values derived from the assessment of these 

three components (target, impact potential and probability of failure) are 

combined to calculate the probability of significant harm occurring. 

The system moves the management of tree safety away from labelling 

trees as either ‘safe’ or ‘unsafe’, thereby requiring definitive statements of 

tree safety from either tree surveyors or tree managers. Instead QTRA 

quantifies the risk of significant harm from tree failure in a way that 

enables tree managers to balance safety with tree value and operate to a 

predetermined limit of reasonable or acceptable risk. 

P
age 35



 

16 

 

 

 

In terms of acceptable risk, the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 

suggests that the threshold of acceptable risk should be set at 1/10,000 

per annum for members of the public who “have a risk imposed on them in 

the wider interest”.  

On the basis of this, Doncaster Council has adopted 1 in 10,000 as its 

threshold of acceptable annual risk of death or significant harm from any 

particular tree hazard. It is the intention of this policy to implement a 

system of proactive inspection of trees (see section 9.2) to identify those 

with a risk of harm greater than 1 in 10,000 and use current resources to 

reduce those risks to an acceptable level through appropriate tree 

maintenance practices. 

 

9.2 PROACTIVE TREE INSPECTION 

Tree surveys and inspections will be carried out only by trained, competent 

and qualified Tree Officers using the following inspection hierarchy: 

 

 

Explanation of the proactive tree inspection processes and outcomes is 

set out at Appendix A. 

As well as identifying trees with a risk of harm greater than 1 in 10,000, 

proactive inspections also allow Tree Officers to identify emerging issues 

and specify appropriate remedial works to remove a potential structural 

weakness, obstruction or actionable nuisance before it develops, and to 

actively monitor the tree stock for the presence and spread of pests and 

diseases (see section 11.0).  

9.3 RISK ZONING 

For a programme of proactive tree inspections to be manageable and 

cost-effective, most resources need to be focussed in areas where there is 

potentially most risk to people and property. One of the greatest benefits of 

QTRA is that it enables an informed overview of the risks associated with 

Level 1: Routine Tree Survey 

A basic proactive or reactive visual inspection 

Level 2: Individual Tree Risk Survey 

A thorough ground-based inspection of defects identified or 
suspected during a ‘routine tree survey' 

Level 3: Detailed Tree Inspection 

Performed to provide detailed information about specific tree parts, 
defects, targets or site conditions 

P
age 36



 

17 

 

a tree population to be carried out as a desktop exercise before a survey 

of the trees.  

This initial 'target' analysis is achieved by placing sites within common 

categories of target value and occupation as set out in table 2. Large sites 

(e.g. parks) may contain two or more different risk zones dependant on 

nearby targets. Each tree is visited at the frequency determined by the 

allocated risk zoning of its location, or at an increased frequency where 

dictated by an individual tree risk survey. 

Table 2: Risk zoning for pro-active tree inspection 

Risk Zone 
Categories 

Example Target Criteria 
Inspection 
Frequency 

High Risk 
Zone 

o major infrastructure including ‘A’ class roads, strategic 

distributor roads, busy junctions prone to standing 

traffic and land adjacent to railways and motorways; 

and 

o areas of high density pedestrian use including town 

centre pedestrianized areas and car parks, busy parks 

and children’s playgrounds.  

18 months 

Moderate Risk 
Zone 

o principle ‘B’ class roads;  

o medium density pedestrian use; 

o sheltered housing and open-plan housing estates. 

3 years 

Low Risk Zone 
 

o other classified and rural roads;  

o low density pedestrian use; 

o enclosed housing estate gardens; and 

o industrial estates. 

5 years 

Very Low Risk 
Zone 

o unsurfaced roads;  

o isolated green spaces;  

o woodland paths/tracks. 

5-10 years 

10.0 TREE VALUATION 

The Town and Country Planning Act introduced the concept that trees 

have a public amenity value. However, it does not prescribe how their 

value should be estimated.  

Street Scene has adopted the Capital Asset Value for Amenity Trees 

(CAVAT) methodology, which is widely used in UK arboriculture as a 

valuation tool for amenity trees, and will use it to assess the value of a tree 

following malicious damage in support of a prosecution or claim for 

compensation. CAVAT has also been designed to allow integration with 

computerised tree inventories to express the value of a tree population as 

a whole and analyse how the value of the tree stock changes over time, 

and in particular how that relates to investment. Used in this way it will 

enable the effective demonstration of productive and cost effective use of 

financial resources, and provide an argument to safeguard the budget for 

continued tree planting and management. 

CAVAT quantifies a tree’s value as a general public asset, focusing on the 

wider benefits of trees to communities, rather than pure visual amenity or 

as the property of the Council. It calculates a value for the tree expressed 

in monetary terms as the cost of replacement; i.e. how much would need 

to be spent on new planting to give effective compensation for the loss of a 

tree, or a number of trees, based on the size of trunk area of a damaged 

tree. That value is modified primarily by how strongly a tree contributes to 

public amenity using: 

o national population figures; 

o a tree’s townscape and visual importance; and 

o other factors, including life expectancy and health. 

 

CAVAT requires a significant amount of knowledge of the growth of trees 

and species’ differences to value a tree reliably. All staff undertaking tree 

valuations will be appropriately trained and competent for the task. 

11.0 PESTS AND DISEASES  

At a time of growing concern about the increasing threat of tree pest and 

disease epidemics worldwide, the Dutch Elm Disease (DED) outbreak of 

the late 1960s and early 1970s is a salutary reminder of the potentially 

devastating impact of a major tree disease outbreak, having resulted in the 

P
age 37



 

18 

 

demise of an estimated 30 million elm trees across Britain by 1985. DED is 

still endemic in the borough. 

 

We will actively monitor our tree stock for the presence and spread of tree 

pests and diseases and report the presence of any significant or new 

pest/disease outbreaks to DEFRA and the Forestry Commission in order 

to identify and put in place a programme of preventative and remedial 

work. Sanitation felling to halt the spread of pests and diseases will only 

be undertaken where supported by the current advice of the appropriate 

Government agency. Any diseased tree which poses an unacceptable risk 

to persons or property will be removed in accordance with policy 

guidelines.  

12.0 TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIREMENTS 

Where trees are removed in the course of risk management or routine 

arboricultural operations replacement planting will be undertaken on a 

one-for-one basis, with new trees normally specified at heavy standard 

nursery stock size, as defined by British Standard 3936 Nursery stock -

Part 1: Specification for trees and shrubs. 

The number of replacement trees required to compensate for the removal 

of trees for other reasons, such as a road improvement scheme or as a 

result of root damage from utility works, will depend upon the size of the 

tree(s) being lost and is set out in table 3.  

Table 3: Replacement Tree Planting Requirements 

Trunk Diameter of Felled Tree               
(cm measured at 1.5 metres) 

Number of Replacement Trees 

Less than 19.9 1 

20-29.9 2 

30-39.9 3 

40-49.9 4 

50-59.9 5 

60-69.9 6 

70-79.9 7 

80+ 
Determined by Amenity Valuation (section 

11.0) 

The number of replacement trees set out above is based on the planting of 

heavy standard nursery stock. However, replacement tree numbers may 

be reduced proportionately for the use of larger nursery stock. 

All nursery stock planted on Council land will be sourced from reputable 

growers and meet high biosecurity standards. All plants supplied should 

be free from pests, diseases and physiological disorders. All imported 

trees and shrubs should have spent at least one full growing season on a 

UK nursery and have been subjected to a full pest and disease 

programme. Evidence of this control programme together with an audit 

trail will be required. 

P
age 38



 

19 

 

13.0 CONSTRAINTS ON TREE MANAGEMENT 

There are a number of legal constraints that must be complied with when 

planning and undertaking tree work, which includes: 

13.1 PROTECTED TREES 

Trees that have been protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) under 

the Town and Country Planning Act require the submission of a formal 

application to the Local Planning Authority relating to any proposed tree 

work. It is a criminal offence to prune or fell a tree that is subject to a TPO 

without having first obtained consent. Doncaster Council is not exempt 

from this requirement and where trees on Council land are subject to a 

TPO an application for consent to carry out work has to be advertised 

nearby for 21 days prior to consent being granted, except for emergency 

work. 

Where a tree is not protected by a TPO but stands within one of the 

borough’s 46 Conservation Areas, the person wishing to carry out tree 

work is required to provide the Local Planning Authority six weeks written 

notice of intent prior to carrying out the work. Whilst Doncaster Council 

does not require consent to prune or fell trees on its own land within a 

conservation area we must ensure that tree work does not have an 

adverse impact on the ‘special character and appearance of the 

conservation area’. To do this, we will always consult the Local Planning 

Authority prior to undertaking tree removal, except in an emergency. 

13.2 FELLING LICENCE 

Under the Forestry Act 1967 it is an offence to fell trees in Great Britain 

without prior Forestry Commission approval in the form of a felling licence. 

Unless a licence application is for thinning only (with no other felling) the 

Forestry Commission will usually attach conditions to the licence to ensure 

that restocking is undertaken and maintained. Doncaster Council is not 

exempt from this requirement and must obtain a felling license prior to 

undertaking woodland management works, except for emergency safety 

work. 

13.3 BIRDS 

Under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an offence 

to kill, injure or take wild birds, their young, their eggs or nests and, for bird 

species listed in Schedule 1 of the Act, to disturb them whilst building or 

using a nest. For this reason, Doncaster Council will only consider 

removing or pruning coniferous tree species or undertaking woodland 

management outside of the bird nesting season and will not undertake any 

tree work where active bird nests are identified during pre-start checks. 

13.4 BATS 

Bats are a European Protected Species and all species are protected by 

the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 and the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). Causing damage to or 

destroying a roost site is a criminal offence which can lead to 

imprisonment or fine. Trees in Doncaster Council ownership with signs of 

potential roost features will be subject to assessment by an Ecologist 

before any work commences. Any trees supporting roosting bats will not 

be worked on until Natural England has been consulted. 

 

14.0 CONCLUSIONS, ACTIONS AND MONITORING 

This document implements the aims and eight headline principles set out 

in Theme 2: Trees and Woodlands of the Doncaster Green Infrastructure 

Strategy 2014-2028 to trees on Council land and specifically describes the 

way that Street Scene will manage Doncaster’s public tree resource 

around the central tenet of ‘reasonable risk management’, to maximise the 

benefits that trees provide, keep the risk they pose within acceptable limits 

to ensure that Doncaster’s people and communities derive benefit with an 

improved quality of life, and to provide value for money. 

P
age 39



 

20 

 

14.1 ACTION PLAN 

Immediate Priorities (2018/2019): 

o embed proposed changes in tree management practices into 

service delivery and the Doncaster Growing Together project; 

o continue work to record and map all trees on parks & open spaces 

and highways land in the electronic tree management system; 

o complete ‘risk zoning’ for all trees recorded in the electronic tree 

management system (section 9.3); 

o prepare, prioritise and publicise the first tranche of the routine tree 

survey programme for service areas where tree mapping is 

complete (section 9.2);  

o prepare and prioritise risk management and proactive tree works 

schedules identified from routine tree survey data; and 

o identify any shortfalls in training needed to implement this plan. 

Five-year Priorities (2019-2023): 

o complete work to record and map all trees on parks & open 

spaces and highways land; 

o complete the first tranches of the routine tree survey and proactive 

tree works programmes and expand to other areas as mapping is 

completed;  

o initiate service level agreements for tree management with other 

Council departments and institutions (e.g. schools) and start 

recording and mapping trees; 

o complete broad condition assessments of public woodland estate 

and review / prepare management plans (policy 4); and 

o complete an assessment of tree canopy coverage across 

Doncaster and a valuation of the public tree stock (section 10.0). 

14.2 ANNUAL MONITORING 

The effectiveness of the plan will be monitored annually against the 

following targets and results published on the Council’s website: 

o progress on implementing the action plan (section 14.1) in line 

with published timescales; 

o the percentage of tree work undertaken by Street Scene as an 

emergency; 

o the percentage of routine tree surveys completed before the 

specified inspection date; 

o the percentage of reactive tree surveys completed within 24 hours 

(emergency) and 12 days (other enquiries) of receipt; 

o the percentage of tree work undertaken by Street Scene as 

planned systematic work; 

o the number of trees removed and replacement trees planted; 

o the percentage of newly transplanted trees receiving systematic 

maintenance until independence in the landscape; 

o the percentage of sites in the public woodland estate under 

positive conservation management;  

o the number of enforcement incidents on Council owned trees; 

o changes in the composition of the public tree stock. 

14.3 FIVE YEAR REVIEW (2023) 

The Tree Risk Management Plan and tree management policies will be 

reviewed in light of: 

o changes to Council policy; 

o changes in industry best practice;  

o changes in QTRA methodology;  

o changes in legislation, legal judgments and emerging case law 

relating to tree risk management; 

o a review of training and competence of council staff engaged in 

tree inspection; 

o annual monitoring data; 

o a review of asset data relating to the public part of the urban 

forest; and 

o a review of the action plan (section 14.1). 

P
age 40



 

21 

 

APPENDIX A – GUIDELINES ON TREE INSPECTION 

A.1 Hierarchy of Tree Inspections 

Type of Inspection What Doncaster Council will do Customer advice 

A.1.1 Level 1  
         Routine Tree Survey 

A limited visual assessment to identify obvious defects or specified 
conditions and identify any necessary tree management works. 
 
This is the fastest and least thorough form of assessment intended 
for managing large populations of trees carried out as either a 
walk-over or drive-by inspection. 

Outcomes of the inspection: 
 

o remedial works are identified and prioritised in accordance with Appendix B1; 
or 

o an ‘individual tree risk survey’ is scheduled where defects that are not 
imminently hazardous are identified or suspected; or  

o necessary tree management work [as set out in Appendix B2] is identified, 
specified and prioritised for completion. 

A.1.2 Level 2  
         Individual Tree Risk Survey 

A thorough ground-based inspection using the Visual Tree 
Assessment (VTA) process, which is recognised professionally and 
by the courts in the UK. The use of simple tools (mallet, binoculars, 
probes, spades) may be required. 
 
Only limited information may be gained on specific internal, below 
ground or upper crown factors but, for the majority of tree 
assessments, provides adequate information to guide tree 
management. 
 
A risk assessment is completed and used to compare the risk 
associated with a tree and the broadly acceptable level of risk 
(section 9.1) and to inform management options to reduce any ‘risk 
of harm’ to acceptable limits. 

Outcomes of  the inspection: 
 

o the investigation is concluded and routine surveys will continue at the 
frequency determined by risk zoning if a risk is assessed as <1/10,000; or 

o remedial work is specified where a risk is assessed as >1/10,000 and such 
work can reduce the risk to an acceptable level; or 

o a further individual tree risk survey is scheduled to view the tree in a different 
season (e.g. in leaf or out of leaf, or during the fruiting season of a suspected 
decay fungus); or 

o an increase in the frequency of routine tree surveys is specified to monitor the 
progression of a defect or suspected decline in health; or 

o a ‘detailed tree inspection’ is scheduled where further, detailed examination is 
required to confirm the presence, absence or significance of a suspected 
defect. 

A.1.3 Level 3  
         Detailed Tree Inspection 

Performed to provide detailed information about specific tree parts, 
defects, targets or site conditions. 
 
These assessments are generally more time intensive and 

expensive and specialised equipment is often required for 

advanced assessment. Advanced assessment techniques may 
include; aerial inspection, detailed target analysis, detailed site 
evaluation, decay testing, health evaluation, root inspection, tree 
stability monitoring and load testing. 
 
Where appropriate this inspection may be carried out by an 
independent Arboricultural Consultant. 

Outcomes of the inspection as for ‘individual tree risk survey’. 

 

Detailed tree inspections are normally only performed on trees that have 

particularly special value (i.e. a high amenity, landscape, ecological, cultural or 

heritage value) and with the approval of the client. 

 

P
age 41



 

22 

 

APPENDIX B – GUIDELINES ON TREE MANAGEMENT 

B.1 Management to Abate a Risk 

Tree Issue What Doncaster Council will do Customer advice 

B.1.1 Dangerous tree on Council land 

We will aim to complete a tree inspection within 2 hours of receipt 
of an enquiry. 
 
If a tree in Council ownership is in such a condition that it poses an 
unacceptable risk of harm to people or property and is considered 
to be an emergency situation, urgent action will be taken to make 
the tree safe.  
 
EMERGENCY tree work requiring an immediate response to 
remove a hazard will be completed within 24 hours. 

Doncaster Council operates a 24hr emergency call-out service. An emergency is 
defined as a tree that is in immediate danger of collapse or causing an obstruction 
requiring urgent attention.  
 
If a tree’s condition could be described as any of the following, it may warrant 
urgent attention:  

o it has snapped or blown over; 
o it is rocking at its base - roots are damaged ; 
o it has uprooted but is held up by another tree or structure;  
o a large branch (>50mm diameter) has broken off and is hung up within 

the tree;  
o it is blocking a road, footpath, or access to a property;  
o it has fallen onto house or car. 

 
Emergency tree work will aim to remove the immediate hazard with a follow-up 
inspection to assess if further work is required. 

We will aim to complete a tree inspection within 2 hours of receipt 
of an enquiry. 
 
If a tree in Council ownership is identified as potentially dangerous, 
but the risk of harm to the public or property does not currently 
exceed the threshold of acceptable risk adopted by Doncaster 
Council (section 9.1) the customer will be notified of what action is 
considered appropriate.  
 
HIGH PRIORITY tree work requiring a response to remove a 
hazard that is not showing clear and present signs of immediate 
instability will be completed within 13 weeks. 

Doncaster Council has a legal duty to maintain its trees in such a way that their 
condition does not pose unreasonable risks to people or property. We take this 
duty of care extremely seriously and, where a tree is identified as posing a risk of 
harm that is approaching the threshold of acceptable risk (see section 9.1), 
management to reduce the risk might be justified.  
 
A tree’s condition could be described as posing a risk to people or property that 
does not require an emergency response if it is:  

o dead;  
o dying - few leaves in summer or dieback in the crown;  
o losing bark;  
o root damaged (but not rocking at its base); 
o affected by mushrooms or other fungi growing on or near the tree;  
o affected by old splits and cracks in the trunk or large branches;  
o losing larger branches which are falling from the tree.  

 
Trees in this category will be made safe by pruning or felling, whichever is the most 
cost effective approach to reduce the risk of harm below the threshold of 
acceptable risk. 

 

P
age 42



 

23 

 

Tree Issue What Doncaster Council will do Customer advice 

B.1.2 Dangerous tree on private land 

If a tree in private ownership is in such a condition that it poses an 
unacceptable risk of harm to highway users the land owner will be 
contacted and instructed to make the tree safe. 
 
In the event of failure to carry out work, Doncaster Council may 
use its statutory powers to implement essential works and 
recharge the costs to the land owner. 
 
Where defects that are not imminently hazardous are identified or 
suspected the owner of the tree will be informed within 14 days of 
inspection of what works they are responsible for to make the 
situation safe. 
 
Where a tree in private ownership has failed in whole or in part and 
is obstructing a public highway Doncaster Council will use its 
statutory powers to implement essential works and recharge the 
costs to the land owner. 
 

All tree owners have a legal duty of care to ensure that trees under their control do 
not pose an unreasonable risk of harm to others. 
 
Doncaster Council has responsibilities under the Highways Act 1980 (section 154) 
to ensure that trees located close to a highway on private land do not pose an 
unacceptable risk to highway users, and legal powers of enforcement to ensure 
that the required action is undertaken and to recover all reasonable costs in 
discharging its duties from the tree owner. 
 
Doncaster Council operates a 24hr emergency call-out service. An emergency is 
defined as a tree that is in immediate danger of collapse or causing an obstruction 
requiring urgent attention (see section B.1.1).  
 

If a tree in private ownership is found to pose an unacceptable risk 
of harm to non-highway land the land owner will be contacted and 
instructed to make the tree safe. 
 
In the event of failure to carry out work, Doncaster Council may 
use its statutory powers to implement essential works and 
recharge the costs to the land owner. 
 
Where defects that are not imminently hazardous are identified or 
suspected the Council has limited powers to intervene and will not 
normally take further action. 
 

All tree owners have a legal responsibility to ensure that trees under their control 
do not pose an unreasonable risk of harm to others. It is expected that private 
parties will take care of their own responsibilities and hence the Council should not 
be considered as the first point of contact in attempting to resolve concerns about 
the danger posed by trees in private ownership. 
 
If you are concerned over the condition of a privately owned tree and its perceived 
risk, you should contact the owner and make them aware of your concerns. 
 
If the owner has been made aware of the perceived risk, but no solution can be 
found, or the owner is unknown, Doncaster Council has powers under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (sections 23 &; 24) to intervene. 
However, the powers given in the Act to require a private individual or for the 
Council to make safe a tree are discretionary and will only be used if there is an 
imminent risk of serious harm to persons or property. 
 
In this instance a person who wishes to notify the council of a dangerous tree 
where there is an imminent threat to public safety is expected to make a formal 
notification in writing. 
 
The Council can intervene under the Act if an owner of such trees fails to act in a 
reasonable timescale and will seek to recover the costs from the landowner or 
where a land owner cannot be traced the person who notified the council of the 
dangerous tree may be liable for the Council’s reasonable costs. 

 

P
age 43



 

24 

 

B.2 Non-risk Abatement Tree Management 

Tree Issue What the Council will do Customer advice 

B.2.1 Overhanging / obstructing 
branches 
 

We will aim to identify branches causing, or about to cause, an 
‘actionable nuisance’ during routine tree surveys and proactively 
prune a tree to achieve a clearance of 2-3metres from an adjacent 
property or other infrastructure. 
 
We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to 
alleviate overhanging branches that are not causing an ‘actionable 
nuisance’. 

The Council has no legal obligation to prune a tree on its land to prevent branches 
spreading over a neighbouring property boundary, unless an ‘actionable nuisance’ 
is being caused.  
 
An ‘actionable nuisance’ is a nuisance that could give rise to action in the courts – 
i.e. where a tree is causing, or there is an immediate risk of it causing, actual 
damage. In contrast, whilst a tree branch that overhangs the boundary, for 
example, may be perceived as a nuisance by the neighbouring property it is not 
actionable in law. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

We will aim to identify branches causing, or about to cause, an 
obstruction of an adopted highway, footway or public right of way 
during routine tree surveys and proactively prune a tree to achieve 
a vertical clearance of 5.3metres above a highway and 2.4metres 
above a footway or public footpath.  
 
Where a privately-owned tree is reported as causing an obstruction 
to an adopted highway, footway or public right of way we will notify 
the owner of the tree to remove the obstruction. .In the event of 
failure to carry out work, Doncaster Council may use its statutory 
powers to implement essential works. 

Doncaster Council has duties and powers under the Highways Act 1980 to prevent 
obstruction of an adopted highway, footway or public right of way.  
 
If it is necessary that the Council undertakes remedial work on a private tree then 
the owner will be charged in full for the Council’s costs. 

We will aim to identify branches causing, or about to cause, 
obstruction of traffic signals, street signs, streetlights or sightlines 
during routine tree surveys and proactively prune a tree to ensure 
that it does not unduly obstruct street furniture or sightlines. 
 
Where a privately-owned tree is reported as causing an obstruction 
of traffic signals, street signs, streetlights or sightlines we will notify 
the owner of the tree to remove the obstruction. In the event of 
failure to carry out work, Doncaster Council may use its statutory 
powers to implement essential works. 

Doncaster Council has duties and powers under the Highways Act 1980 to prevent 
obstruction of traffic signals, street signs, streetlights or sightlines.  
 
If it is necessary that the Council undertakes remedial work on a private tree then 
the owner will be charged in full for the Council’s costs. 

We will not normally fell a tree in Council ownership to alleviate 
obstruction of CCTV cameras and will only undertake pruning 
works sufficient to clear an obstruction. 

Doncaster Council expects installation engineers to take account of existing trees 
and their future growth before they install their apparatus. P

age 44



 

25 

 

B.2.2 Epicormic growth 

We will aim to clear epicormic growth from trees adjacent to busy 
roads and in high amenity areas annually as part of our routine tree 
maintenance programme. 
 
We may not routinely clear epicormic growth from trees on Council 
land where it is not causing an obstruction. 

Epicormic growth is the twiggy shoot growth from the base or up the stem of trees 
and can cause an obstruction where it is close to footpaths, driveways or roads. 

B.2.3 Tree size 
 

We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership just 
because it is perceived to be ‘too big’.  
 
However there will be certain circumstances in which this might 
change. We may undertake overall crown reduction of a tree in 
Council ownership to reduce a specific risk assessed as >1/10,000 
by an individual tree risk survey and we will aim to cyclically re-
pollard all trees with an established pollard framework on a five 
year cycle unless specified otherwise by a specific management 
objective (e.g. veteran tree management). 

A tree is not dangerous just because it may be perceived to be overgrown or too 
big for its surroundings. The Council has no legal obligation to restrict the size of 
trees growing on its land. Indeed, it is only on very rare occasions that a tree can 
truly be said have outgrown its location and the biggest trees have been shown to 
provide the greatest benefits. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

B.2.4 Shading and loss of light 

We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to 
improve natural light to a property or garden.  
 
However, it is accepted that in some cases trees can cause 
excessive gloom and we may consider management works where: 

o the distance between the base of a tree and the window 
of the nearest principal habitable room is less than 6 
metres for trees with a height over 12metres, or less 
than half the height of the tree for smaller trees; 

o the separation between the edge of the canopy and the 
vertical plane of the window is less than 2metres; 

o more than 50% of the main amenity area does not 
receive unobstructed sunlight in summer. 

 
All such works will be subject to the availability of finances and will 
be LOW PRIORITY works to be completed within 52 weeks. 

Contrary to popular belief, there is no general right to light with regard to trees and 
vegetation in English law. In addition, whilst pruning may help improve light in the 
short-term the flush of quick, extra growth associated with pruning can exacerbate 
the problem in the long-term. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 
 
If natural light is being blocked by the growth of a hedge then action may be taken 
to reduce the problem under the High Hedges Act, Part 8 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour Act, 2003. Investigations are undertaken by the Local Planning 
Authority, for more information refer to the Council’s website: 
http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/environmental/hedges 
 
A ‘principal habitable room’ means a frequently used room by the occupants of a 
dwelling for general daytime living purposes. Kitchens, bathrooms, toilets, corridors 
and halls are specifically excluded. 

We will not prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to improve 
light attenuation by domestic solar panels. 

Whilst Doncaster Council recognises the need for renewable energy sources, the 
magnitude and range of benefits provided by trees are considered to far outweigh 
those provided by domestic solar panels and the installation of solar panels will not 
be at the expense of other environmental assets (i.e. trees). 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

  

P
age 45



 

26 

 

B.2.5 Loss of view 

We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to 
improve the view from a private property. A site inspection will not 
be made for this reason. 
 
However there may be certain circumstances in which this might 
change and we may consider pruning or felling a tree to restore an 
important public viewpoint or where there is potential to bring about 
significant public benefit and/or enhance the local landscape or 
townscape.  

There is no legal right to a 'view'.  
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

B.2.6 Trees affecting reception 

We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to 
prevent interference with TV or satellite, telephone or broadband 
reception as there is no legal right to TV, satellite, telephone or 
broadband reception. A site inspection will not normally be made 
for the above reason.  
 
However there may be certain circumstances in which this might 
change and we may consider pruning or felling a Council-owned 
tree to improve signal reception of a telecommunications mast 
where it will bring about significant public benefit and no alternative 
solution is available. 

The Council has no legal obligation to prune trees on its land to help improve 
television / satellite television reception or to improve signal reception of a 
communications mast. In addition, whilst pruning may help improve reception in the 
short-term the flush of quick, extra growth associated with pruning can exacerbate 
the problem in the long-term.  
 
In most cases the problem can be resolved by relocating a mast, aerial or satellite 
dish, or alternatively using a signal booster. Residents are advised to contact their 
satellite or TV provider for specialist advice.  
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 
 
Where a Council-owned tree is pruned or removed to improve telecommunications 
signal reception replacement planting will be required at a rate given in section 
11.0. 

B.2.7 General / minor nuisances 

We will not prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to reduce 
falling leaves, twigs, sap, or blossom from trees or remove fallen 
natural debris from private land. 
 
A site inspection will not be made for these reasons. 

Trees are naturally shedding organisms and the Council has no legal obligation to 
fell or prune trees solely to alleviate problems caused by natural and/or seasonal 
phenomena, which are largely outside of our control. Tree blossom usually heralds 
the start of spring and is a natural occurrence, which cannot be avoided by 
pruning. The loss of leaves / foliage from trees in the autumn is part of the natural 
cycle and cannot be avoided by pruning. 
 
The cleansing of surfaces (e.g. paths, lawns, gutters or cars) affected by falling 
leaves, sap, blossom, fruit, nuts, bird and insect droppings and weeding of self-set 
seeds are considered to be normal routine seasonal maintenance which property 
owners are expected to carry out.  The maintenance of gutters is the responsibility 
of the owner/occupier and the Council is not obliged to remove leaves that may 
have fallen from council owned trees. Where gutters are regularly blocked by fallen 
leaves owners/occupiers may wish to fit gutter guards to provide a low-
maintenance solution. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

P
age 46



 

27 

 

B.2.7 General / minor nuisances 
(continued) 

We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to 
reduce falling fruit, berries or nuts, or remove fallen fruit or 
germinating seedlings from private land.  
 
A site inspection will not normally be made for this reason. 
 
However there may be certain circumstances in which this might 
change and we may consider measures to reduce a problem 
where fallen fruit is leading to significant anti-social behaviour 
problems. 

Fruit trees such as apple, cherry and pear have the double benefit of spring 
blossom and autumn fruit. This makes fruit trees good for wildlife and a source of 
free food. 
 
Where fruit trees are established but there is a significant anti-social behaviour 
problem we may consider phased removal and replacement with alternative 
species at the rate set out in section 11.0 where finances are available. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

We will not prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to reduce the 
emission of honeydew or other sticky residue from trees. 
 
A site inspection will not be made for this reason. 

Honeydew is a natural and seasonal problem caused by aphids (e.g greenfly) 
feeding on the tree, which excrete a sugary sap. Unfortunately, there is little that 
can be done to remove the aphids which cause the problem and pruning the tree 
may only offer partial and/or temporary relief. Re-growth is often more likely to be 
colonised by greenfly thereby potentially increasing the problem. Some trees, such 
as limes, are more prone to attack by greenfly and in some years greenfly are 
more common especially following a mild winter. 
 
Often the honeydew is colonised by a mould, which causes it to go black. Where 
honeydew affects cars, warm soapy water will remove the substance, as long as 
this is done promptly. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 
 
Where new trees are planted we try to choose species and varieties that are less 
likely to cause this problem. 

We will not prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to remove or 
reduce bird droppings from trees, or remove bird droppings from 
private land. 
 
A site inspection will not be made for this reason. 

Bird droppings may be a nuisance, but the problem is not considered a sufficient 
reason to prune or remove a tree. Warm soapy water will usually be sufficient to 
remove the bird droppings as long as this is done promptly. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 
 
In addition, nesting birds are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
(and other related wildlife law). Further guidance on wildlife protection can be found 
in sections 13.3 and 13.4. 

 

 

P
age 47



 

28 

 

B.2.7 General / minor nuisances 
(continued) 

We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to 
remove or reduce incidence of perceived pests such as bees, 
wasps, flies, spiders or wild animals. 
 
A site inspection will not normally be made for any of the above 
reasons. 
 
However there may be certain circumstances in which this might 
change and we will undertake felling or pruning as required as part 
of a control programme where a serious risk to public health is 
identified and supported by the current advice of the appropriate 
Government agency. 

If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 
 
Many species of insect, including many threatened or endangered species, live in 
or around trees and pose no threat to the health of people and animals. However, 
some exotic species do, such as the presence of Oak Processionary Moth. We will 
actively monitor our tree stock for the presence and spread of tree pests and 
publish details of current pest and disease threats in the borough and action plans 
for their management on our website. 

B.2.8 Poisonous trees 

We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership due 
to a theoretical risk of accidental poisoning from trees bearing 
poisonous fruit or foliage. 
 
A site inspection will not normally be made for the above reason. 
 

The view expressed by the National Poisons Information Service (NPIS) is that the 
vast majority of (the fortunately rare) significant overdoses related to poisonous 
trees occur in individuals who self-harm and there is a very low risk of accidental 
toxicity.  
 
Similarly, the Veterinary Poisons Information Service (VPIS) has indicated that, in 
relation to Yew, even in the worst case scenario of exhibiting severe signs of 
toxicity (e.g. vomiting and diarrhoea) a dog is likely to make a full recovery 
following ingesting berries. 
 
In relation to livestock, the movement of plant seeds around in the air due to 
weather patterns is a natural phenomenon and the Council has no obligation to 
prevent, or take measures to prevent, the seeds or leaves of trees on its land from 
spreading onto neighbouring land if the species is not listed as an injurious weed 
under the Weeds Act 1959 (e.g. sycamore or oak). Consequently, the onus is on 
the livestock owner to minimise any risks (e.g. fence off areas where seeds and/or 
leaves fall and supply extra forage, especially where pasture is poor). 
 
The Council considers that, in the vast majority of cases, the removal of a tree 
would be a disproportionate response to the actual risk posed in terms of the 
theoretical risk of accidental poisoning.  
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

B.2.9 Personal medical complaint 

Requests to undertake work to a tree in Council ownership 
because of a personal medical condition will be treated on a case-
by-case basis and on advice from a qualified medical practitioner. 
 
A site inspection may be required depending on advice given by 
the complainant’s medical practitioner. 

If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

 

P
age 48



 

29 

 

B.2.9 Personal medical complaint 
(continued) 

We will not prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to reduce the 
release of pollen. 
 
A site inspection will not be made for the above reason. 

Whilst we recognise that hay fever can be a debilitating problem, research has 
shown the positive effects that trees have on physical and mental well-being, 
particularly in urban environments. Not all tree species are wind pollinated and the 
natural movement of pollen around in the air due to weather patterns is a 
phenomenon that is beyond the Council’s control, meaning that trees immediately 
adjacent to properties may not be the pollen source. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 

B.2.10 Moisture Depletion Subsidence 
Damage 

We will only prune or remove a tree in Council ownership where 
submitted evidence clearly implicates a tree in moisture depletion 
subsidence damage and no alternative solution is available.  

Tree induced moisture depletion subsidence damage is a complex issue. Whilst we 
recognise our responsibilities for the trees in our ownership, there will be a 
presumption against the removal or pruning of a tree based on a speculative and 
unquantified possibility of damage occurring at some unspecified point in the 
future. 
 
We vigorously defend claims of tree-related subsidence damage and require that 
the claimant and/or their representative supplies sufficient evidence to establish 
that the vegetation is responsible. The burden of proof lies with the claimant and 
should you wish to make a formal claim for damages or to formally notify us of your 
concerns about future damage you will have to supply supporting evidence. 
 
If you believe that your property is suffering subsidence damage due to the action 
of trees in Council ownership (or that you are concerned about potential damage) 
then you should first contact your property insurer. You should discuss your 
concerns with your insurer to agree an appropriate course of action. 
 
Should you, or those acting on your behalf, wish to make a claim for damages, 
alleging that a Council owned or maintained tree is causing subsidence damage to 
your property, then you should submit it to the Council's Insurance Team:  
http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/the-council-democracy/insurance 
 
We will expect any insurance claim against a tree on Council land to be supported 
by the following evidence: 

o description of type of damage; 
o indication of seasonal movement; 
o levels and distortion survey; 
o visual evidence of damage; 
o depth of foundations demonstrated from excavated trial holes; 
o analysis of soil type under foundation; 
o presence and identification of tree roots. 

 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. You should also be aware that the cutting of roots 
can seriously affect the structural stability of a tree. 

P
age 49



 

30 

 

B.2.11 Root encroachment and 
damage 

We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership just 
because roots have encroached onto adjoining land. 
 
A site inspection will not normally be made for the above reason. 
 
However there may be certain circumstances in which this may 
change and we will prune or fell a tree in Council ownership to 
resolve a direct damage issue where submitted evidence clearly 
implicates a tree and no alternative solution is available.   

Tree roots naturally exploit surrounding ground for moisture and nutrients essential 
to keep the tree healthy and to keep it stable. Tree pruning is unlikely to reduce 
root presence and may actually worsen the problem in the long-term as many tree 
species readily produce shoots from their buried roots as a way to regenerate and 
this is often stimulated by stresses, such as pruning. Numerous tree species 
(including Cherry and Poplar) are also likely to produce vigorous root suckers as a 
response to being felled. Poisoning a stump to prevent such suckering is not 
always successful since application of herbicide onto a stump face often only 
affects the stump and the upper roots. 
 
It is often possible to rebuild or repair garden walls and repair paths to take 
account of adjacent trees by, for example installing a section of railing in a wall or 
using a bridging foundation, and by selectively pruning roots and re-laying a path 
with flexible materials such as asphalt, gravel or resin-bonded gravel to provide a 
smooth surface. 
 
If you believe that your property is suffering damage due to the action of trees in 
Council ownership then you should first contact your property insurer. You should 
discuss your concerns with your insurer to agree an appropriate course of action. 
 
The burden of proof lies with the claimant and should you wish to make a formal 
claim for damages or to formally notify us of your concerns about damage you 
should supply supporting evidence. 
 
Should you, or those acting on your behalf, wish to make a claim for damages, 
alleging that a Council owned or maintained tree is causing direct damage to your 
property, then you should submit it to the Council's Insurance Team:  
http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/the-council-democracy/insurance 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. You should also be aware that the cutting of roots 
can seriously affect the structural stability of a tree. 

We will not prune, fell or cut the roots of a tree in Council 
ownership in response to root presence in drains or an 
unquantified possibility of future drain damage occurring because 
of the presence of trees. 

There is no evidence to suggest that tree roots can actively penetrate an intact 
pipe or drain, but they can find their way into drains through existing faults and 
increase damage. The presence of tree roots in a drain is usually symptomatic of 
an underlying problem requiring repair of the broken pipe. The removal or pruning 
of a tree will not prevent other vegetation from exploiting the same opportunity. 
 
If you are concerned about the condition of your drains then you are advised to 
contact your water and sewerage company. 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. You should also be aware that the cutting of roots 
can seriously affect the structural stability of a tree. 

P
age 50



 

31 

 

B.2.11 Root encroachment and 
damage (continued) 

We will work with the Highways authority to make safe an 
unacceptable trip hazard in a public highway or footpath caused by 
the growth of a tree in Council ownership. 
 
We will only undertake root pruning when other options for 
correcting a conflict between roots and infrastructure are deemed 
not practical or not proportionate. 

Trip hazards in a footway measured at an up stand greater than 20mm should be 
reported to the Highways authority for inspection via 736000. 

B.2.12 Pest and disease control 

We will actively monitor our tree stock for the presence and spread 
of tree pests and diseases and report the presence of any 
significant or new pest or disease outbreaks to DEFRA and the 
Forestry Commission in order to identify and put in place a 
programme of preventative and remedial work.  
 
Sanitation felling to halt the spread of a pest or disease will only be 
undertaken where supported by the current advice of the 
appropriate Government agency. 

The scale of devastation caused by Dutch Elm Disease is well known and affected 
trees are still a common sight around the borough. Climate change and global 
trade are also increasing the range of pests and diseases that affect the tree 
species growing around Doncaster and modern transport links often facilitate their 
rapid spread. 

B.2.13 Crime and anti-social behaviour 

Where a tree in Council ownership is associated with criminal 
activity and/or anti-social behaviour, measures to reduce the 
problem will be considered on a site-by-site basis. 
 
We will not normally prune or fell a tree in Council ownership just 
because it is associated with anti-social behaviour. 

Where a tree is associated with criminal activity and/or anti-social behaviour steps 
to reduce the problem will typically require the coordination of a number of 
agencies including the Police. Just pruning or felling a tree is not always the 
answer to the problem. 

B.2.14 Third party nuisance - private 
tree 

The Council has no authority to intervene in a dispute between 
neighbours. 

The Council cannot provide a mediation service so you should try to resolve a 
dispute between yourself and your neighbour amicably or seek advice from a 
solicitor or Citizens Advice - https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/ 
 
If you wish to exercise your ‘Common Law right’ to remove (abate) the nuisance 
associated with trees encroaching onto your property you should refer to the 
advice given at section 9.0. 
 
If the nuisance relates to the height of a hedge then action may be taken to reduce 
the problem under the High Hedges Act, Part 8 of the Antisocial Behaviour Act, 
2003. Investigations are undertaken by the Local Planning Authority, for more 
information refer to the Council’s website -  
http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/environmental/hedges 

 

  

P
age 51



 

32 

 

APPENDIX C – GUIDELINES ON TREE PRUNING OPERATIONS 

C.1 Tree Pruning Techniques 

Pruning Technique Description and Associated Risks What Doncaster Council will do 

C.1.1 Crown Lifting 

The removal of lower branches to achieve a stated vertical 
clearance above ground level or other structure. 
 
The excessive removal of low branches can lead to the 
development of poor stem / crown balance, where a tree may 
become top heavy, and may result in large wounds around the 
main stem, which could potentially allow the development of 
extensive decay and reduce the long term integrity of the tree’s 
main supporting structure. 

Crown lifting is undertaken as routine tree maintenance to prevent obstruction of a 

highway or footpath, or interference with buildings and other infrastructure, or to 

reduce shading where it has been identified as necessary by a routine tree survey. 

It is specified to comply with the following parameters: 

o the number and size of pruning wounds will be limited and well-spaced;  
o the reduction of branches to lateral/secondary growth rather than their 

complete removal will be prioritised, especially in mature trees; 
o the remaining crown height should be at least two-thirds of the tree’s 

overall height;  
o no more than 15% of the tree’s original unpruned crown will be removed 

when cutting back branches to the stem(s); 
o the vertical clearance will be stated in the work specification;  
o trees situated along public highways will be maintained to a minimum 

clearance height of 2.3metres over a footpath or paved area and 
5.2metres over carriageways; and 

o extensive crown lifting will be phased over a number of years, where 
possible, with a view to providing some opportunity for physiological and 
biomechanical adaptation to the resulting wounding and branch removal. 

C.1.2 Crown Thinning 

The removal of some secondary branch growth to create a less 
dense crown without altering the shape of the tree. 
 
The amount of branch wood that can be removed without harming 
the tree is minimal. In addition, rubbing and crossing branches can 
act as natural braces and hold multiple crown parts together and 
their removal can increase the likelihood of crown failure. 

Doncaster Council does not routinely undertake crown thinning. Where it is 
specified it will comply with the following parameters: 

o the estimated percentage of crown to be removed will not exceed 20% (1 
in 5 branches);  

o pruning cuts will not normally exceed 4cm in diameter; and  
o rubbing and crossing branches that are acting as natural crown braces 

will be identified and retained. 

C.1.3 Targeted Pruning 

The removal or shortening of individual branches to increase 
clearance from buildings or infrastructure (e.g. overhead cables) or 
the removal or shortening of branches that would otherwise 
probably fail.  
 
The amount of branch wood that can be removed without harming 
the tree is minimal. 

Targeted pruning is undertaken as routine tree maintenance to prevent contact 

with buildings and other infrastructure where it has been identified as necessary by 

a routine tree survey. It is specified to comply with the following parameters: 

o the number and size of pruning wounds will be the minimum required for 

the purpose; and 

o the work specification should state the feature and the clearance to be 

achieved. P
age 52



 

33 

 

C.1.4 Crown Reduction  

The overall reduction in the height and/or spread of the crown of a 
tree by means of a general shortening of peripheral twigs and/or 
branches, whilst retaining the main framework of the crown.  
 
Crown reduction alleviates biomechanical stress by reducing both 
the leverage and the sail area of a tree, and can allow retention of 
a tree in a confined space.  
 
However, it results in a large number of wounds and the loss of a 
large proportion of the tree’s foliage-bearing structure, which can 
affect photosynthetic performance and the maintenance of natural 
defences against dysfunction and decay. It can also stimulate 
vigorous to rapidly restore the height and sail-area of the crown so 
that the hazard of a weak stem or root system is re-established 
quickly. The sail effect is compounded by the high density of 
shoots or production of unusually large leaves. Also, individual new 
branches may tear away from their attachments or snap if they 
become heavy or crowded. Crown reduction can also visually 
affect the tree, losing its natural shape. 

Overall crown reduction may be specified only to reduce a specific risk assessed 

as >1/10,000 by an individual tree risk survey. Where it is specified it will comply 

with the following parameters: 

o the extent of crown reduction will be determined on the basis of the 

management objective (i.e. the reduction in loading) and on an 

assessment of the ability of the tree to withstand the treatment (i.e. the 

characteristics of the species and the physiological condition of the 

individual tree); 

o the crown will be reduced in proportion to its original shape, maintaining 

the natural shape and form of the species, unless there is a specific 

need to alter the shape of the crown, e.g. for biomechanical integrity;  

o pruning cuts will not normally exceed 10cm in diameter; and 

o the specified end result will be stated either as the tree-height and/or 

branch-spread which are to remain or as clearance from another 

structure (in metres) as appropriate to the management objective. 

C.1.5 Crown Retrenchment 

A form of crown reduction that emulates the natural process to 
reduce the size of the crown structure and encourage rejuvenation 
of a smaller, vigorous crown in fully mature trees. 
 
Crown retrenchment is a crucial stage of the natural aging process 
of a tree, whereby the tree retains its overall biomechanical 
integrity by becoming smaller through the progressive shedding of 
branches. This is naturally prompted when the roots are unable to 
support new peripheral shoot extension. 

Crown retrenchment pruning is undertaken as routine maintenance wherever 

necessary to prolong the safe life of fully mature trees in line with the following 

parameters: 

o pruning is planned over a longer time frame and a detailed pruning 

specification identifying the specific functional unit of the tree’s crown to 

be worked on is produced to guide works; 

o the percentage of crown affected is limited to a maximum 10% of a tree’s 

leaf area at each pruning operation; and 

o the removal of dead wood is only carried out where a risk to public safety 

has been identified by individual tree risk survey and no solution to retain 

it is possible or proportionate. 

C.1.6 (Re-)Pollarding 

The practice of regulating tree size and shape by removing the 
entire crown of the tree on a cyclical basis.  
 
To be done correctly, it should be started when the tree is young. 
However, in many cases pollarding is necessary following topping 
of an established mature tree to manage poorly attached sprout re-
growth. 

Pollarding will be undertaken as routine tree maintenance only on trees with an 

established pollard framework in line with the following parameters: 

o all regenerated sprouts/shoots are removed right back to their base, 

without cutting into the pollard head (the swollen tissue below the origin 

of the buds) over the entire pollard, except where this would be 

damaging to the tree (e.g. a veteran pollard with low vigor); and  

o pollarding is carried out on a five year cycle, unless specified otherwise 

by a risk assessment or specific management objective (e.g. 

biodiversity). 

P
age 53



 

34 

 

C.1.7 Topping 

Topping is the removal of most, or all of the, crown of a mature tree 
by indiscriminately cutting through the main stem(s) and should not 
be confused with pollarding.  
 
It destroys the tree’s natural shape, introduces decay, encourages 
the development of a weak branch structure and can kill some 
species. 

This is an unacceptable practice and Street Scene does not top trees on 

Doncaster Council land.  

C.1.8 Crown Cleaning 

The removal of dead, dying or diseased branches, pruning stubs, 
snags, broken branches, rubbing / crossing branches, unwanted 
epicormic shoots, climbing plants and debris.  
 
The formation of dead wood is part of the natural system of tree life 
and is not be considered to be a negative thing that has to be 
removed to maintain healthy tree growth, and it is an essential 
habitat for a large number of organisms. 
 
Rubbing and crossing branches can act as natural braces and hold 
multiple crown parts together and their removal can increase the 
likelihood of crown failure. In addition, epicormic growth can 
develop within the crown as a reaction to heavy pruning or to a 
decline in the tree’s health resulting from a number of causes, 
including root damage and the impact of pest and disease, and 
can, therefore, be an important source of food and energy for the 
tree. 

Where deadwood removal or crown cleaning is specified the following parameters 

will be considered: 

o the specification will clearly identify what work is to be carried out; 

o dead wood removal will only be specified where a risk to public safety 

has been identified by a routine or individual tree risk survey;  

o cuts into live wood will be avoided when removing dead branches and 

stubs to avoid damage to the branch collar and callus tissue; 

o rubbing and crossing branches that are acting as natural crown braces 

will be identified and retained;  

o only a proportion (up to a maximum 20%) of epicormic growth that is 

supporting tree growth and sustenance should be removed; and 

o dead branches and climbing plants identified for removal will be 

assessed for wildlife habitat. 

C.1.9 Stem Cleaning 

The removal of epicormic growth, the twiggy shoot growth that 
develops from adventitious buds under the surface of the tree’s 
bark.  
 
It often grows from the base or stem of the tree, developing more 
readily on some species such as lime and sycamore, and can 
cause an obstruction where it is close to footpaths, driveways or 
the road. It may also be appropriate to remove epicormic growth 
for aesthetic reasons. 

We will remove epicormic growth as routine tree maintenance in accordance with 

the following parameters: 

o basal and stem shoots will be removed on up to one occasion annually 

where they are causing an obstruction or are unsightly in a high amenity 

location; 

o shoots may only be removed otherwise where they are obstructing 

access for tree inspection or management or contributing to 

biomechanical loading; and 

o all shoots will be removed back to, but not into, the branch collar leaving 

no projections or exaggerating the size of the wound. 

 

  

P
age 54



 

35 

 

C.1.10 Formative Pruning 

A proactive approach to tree management, which encourages the 
formation of good stem and branch structure, by improving the 
orientation and spacing of branches and removing any potential 
weak structures while a tree is young.  
 
It is also better for the tree creating, smaller wounds with a low 
physiological impact and lower risk of fungal ingress and can 
reduce the need for pruning later on. 

Formative pruning is undertaken as routine maintenance on all young trees once 

they are established in the landscape. All pruning is carried out using only hand 

tools, such as sharp secateurs, loppers and handsaws in accordance with the 

following parameters:  

o remove or reduce competing leading shoots to leave one strong, 

dominant leader;  

o remove rubbing, diseased, dead, congested or weak branches along 

with epicormic and basal growth on the main stem;  

o thin out main lateral branches to be spaced to at least 45cm apart to 

alleviate a tight grouping of branches; and 

o remove low branches pointed in undesirable directions (e.g. towards a 

road). 

C.1.11 Root Pruning 

The severing of roots from a tree in order to address conflicts with 
infrastructure (e.g. direct damage to footpaths and road kerbs) or 
dwellings (e.g. to allow installation of a root barrier to prevent 
indirect damage).  
 
Since this practice results in the loss of roots, both tree health and 
structural stability may be affected. 

We will only undertake root pruning when other options for correcting a conflict 

between roots and infrastructure are deemed not practical or not proportionate. 

Where specifying root pruning for this reason, a tree assessment will be conducted 

prior to pruning and the following parameters considered:  

o tree condition – trees in poor condition, trees with evidence of past 

damage by construction activity, or trees that are leaning; 

o tree species – some species do not respond well to root disturbance 

(e.g. beech); 

o site conditions – soil conditions affect the potential for recovery and 

structural stability loss; 

o the tree’s “mechanically active root plate” – no roots shall be cut within a 

distance of 3x the diameter of the tree trunk, due to stability concerns; 

o size of root – the final wound should be as small as possible to achieve 

the goal and be free from ragged torn ends; 

o time of year – avoid root pruning during times of the year when wind 

loads on trees are greatest or root regeneration is weakest;  

o mitigation works – crown pruning prior to or following root pruning may 

be necessary in cases where the potential for structural failure may 

increase substantially because of root pruning;  

o the method of excavation – removal of the soil around the roots by hand 

or utilizing an ‘air spade’ so the roots can be seen before pruning (a “root 

pruning trench”); and 

o aftercare of roots – once exposed, roots should be covered to prevent 

desiccation and the root pruning trench filled with top soil to encourage 

root re-growth. 

P
age 55



 

36 

 

 

C.1.11 Root Pruning (contd.) 
The severing of roots from a tree as a result of root damage (e.g. 
following utility trenching) 

If, following root damage, a tree has been assessed as being suitable for retention, 

we will aim to prune exposed damaged roots: 

o within 24 hours of the time they have been damaged, where a root is 

greater than 2.5cm in diameter measured at the edge of excavation; 

o back to the edge of excavation, or 2.5cm behind the entire damaged 

portion of the tree root if a damaged root extends beyond the edge of 

excavation into undisturbed soil;  and 

o so that the final wound is as small as possible and free from ragged torn 

ends. 

 

P
age 56



____________________________________________________________________
28th November, 2018

To the Chair and Members of the Community and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PLAN 2018/2019 – November 2018

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s)

Wards Affected Key Decision

Councillor Chris 
McGuinness 
Communities, 
Voluntary Sector and 
the Environment
Councillor Joe 
Blackham, Highways, 
Street Scene and 
Trading Services
Councillor Nigel Ball, 
Cabinet Member 
Public Health, Leisure 
and Culture

All None

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. The Panel is asked to consider the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme for 
2018/19, receive an update on progress and agree future items for 
consideration.

EXEMPT REPORT

2. The report is not exempt.

RECOMMENDATIONS

3. The Committee is asked to: 

a) Review the Overview and Scrutiny work plan attached at Appendix A;

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



b) Agree when items be programmed for consideration or removed from 
the work plan;  and

c) Consider the Council’s Forward Plan of key decisions attached at 
Appendix B.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

4. Regular review of the Overview and Scrutiny work plan enables the Committee to 
ensure it remains relevant and is responding to important issues for citizens and 
the borough.  The work plan update helps support openness, transparency and 
accountability as it summarises outcomes from Overview and Scrutiny activities.  
Citizens are able to contribute to the work of Overview and Scrutiny by attending 
meetings or contributing to reviews.

BACKGROUND

5. Overview and Scrutiny has a number of key roles which focus on:

 Reviewing decisions made by the Executive of the Council;
 Policy development and review;
 Monitoring performance (both service indicators and financial);  and
 Considering issues of wider public concern.

6. An updated version of the work plan is regularly presented to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Committee and Panels for consideration.  The Panel is 
asked to consider the unresolved issues in Appendix A and agree when items 
should be programmed or removed from the list.  It should be noted that the 
work plan highlights those items that have been considered and those that are 
planned at the time this agenda is published.

Council’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions

7. Attached at Appendix B is the Council’s Forward Plan of key decisions for 
consideration by the Panel.

Flood Review – Changes made since the floods of 2007

8. On 23rd October, 2018 the Panel undertook its review on changes made since 
the 2007 floods.  The evidence gathering was led by Doncaster Council 
officers but the Panel also received information from a number of partners 
including the Environment Agency, the Water Management Consortium and 
Doncaster East Internal Drainage Board, Yorkshire Water and the Coal 
Authority.  It was learnt that many changes had been made but Members 
acknowledged that flooding could never be stopped completely but how to 
best manage water and provide preventative measures to reduce the impact 
of any future possible flooding was addressed.  The findings from the report 
will be presented to a future meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee for consideration.

Page 58



OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9. There are no specific options to consider within this report as it provides an 
opportunity for the Panel to review its work plan for 2018/19.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

10. There is no recommended option.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

11.

Outcomes Implications 
Doncaster Working: Our vision is for 
more people to be able to pursue their 
ambitions through work that gives 
them and Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future;

 Better access to good fulfilling work
 Doncaster businesses are 

supported to flourish
  Inward Investment

Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a 
borough that is vibrant and full of 
opportunity, where people enjoy 
spending time;

 The town centres are the beating 
heart of Doncaster

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities 
through Physical Activity and Sport

 Everyone takes responsibility for 
keeping Doncaster Clean

 Building on our cultural, artistic and 
sporting heritage

Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for 
learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life that 
is fulfilling;

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within and 
beyond school

The Overview and Scrutiny 
function has the potential to 
impact upon all of the Council’s 
key objectives by holding decision 
makers to account, reviewing 
performance and policy 
development through robust 
recommendations, monitoring 
performance of the Council and 
external partners, services and 
reviewing issues outside the remit 
of the Council that have an impact 
on the residents of the Borough.

Page 59



 Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good or 
better

 Learning in Doncaster prepares 
young people for the world of work 

Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a 
borough that cares together for its 
most vulnerable residents;

 Children have the best start in life
 Vulnerable families and individuals 

have support from someone they 
trust

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes

Connected Council: 
 A modern, efficient and flexible 

workforce
 Modern, accessible customer 

interactions
 Operating within our resources and 

delivering value for money
 A co-ordinated, whole person, 

whole life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents

 Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 
leadership and governance 

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

12. To maximise the effectiveness of the Overview and Scrutiny function it is 
important that the work plan is manageable and that it accurately reflects the 
broad range of issues within its remit.  Failure to achieve this can reduce the 
overall impact of the function.  National research has identified that over 
ambitious work plans that include too many items are a common cause of 
frustration for Scrutiny Members as they fail to achieve any outcomes.  The 
work plan will continue to be reviewed at each ordinary meeting and officers 
will advise on the capacity available to undertake any additional work.  This 
provides an opportunity to ensure work plans can be regularly monitored and 
reviewed.

Page 60



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [SRF 29.10.18] 

13. The Council’s Constitution states that subject to matters being referred to it by 
the Full Council, or the Executive and any timetables laid down by those 
bodies, Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee (and its panels) will 
determine its own Work Programme (Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
6a). 

Specific legal implications and advice will be provided as required on matters 
brought to the panel.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS (MS 31.10.18)

14. There are no specific financial implications related to the contents of this 
report.  There may be financial implications relating to specific elements on 
the work plan but these will be highlighted in the relevant reports at the 
appropriate time.

HUMAN RESOURCES [AC 29.10.2018]

15. There are no HR specific to the recommendations, however, any emerging 
changes that impact on the workforce would require HR engagement at the 
appropriate time.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [PW  07.11.18 ]

16. There are no specific technology implications in relation to this report. 

HEALTH IMPLICATIONS [RS 30.10.2018]

17. The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee can perform a key role in 
the council’s adoption of a health in all policies approach.  All areas of the 
committee’s work plan can impact on health and it is important that the health 
implications of each item are considered separately given that 20% of what 
contributes to health is from clinical care, 30% from healthy behaviours, 40% 
from socio-economic factors and 10% from the built environment.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS [CR 29.10.18]

18. This report provides an overview on the work programme and there are no 
significant equality implications associated with the report.  Within its 
programme of work Overview and Scrutiny gives due consideration to the 
extent to which the Council has complied with its Public Equality Duty and 
given due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, promote equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between different communities.

CONSULTATION

19. During May and June 2018, OSMC and the standing Panels held work 
planning sessions to identify issues for consideration during 2018/2019.

Page 61



BACKGROUND PAPERS

20. Agenda, guidance and draft work plan produced following Scrutiny work 
planning events held during May and June 2018.

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Christine Rothwell, Senior Governance Officer
01302 735682  christine.rothwell@doncaster.gov.uk

Damian Allen
Director of People

Learning and Opportunities: Children and Young People/
Adults Health and Wellbeing Directorates

Peter Dale
Director of Regeneration and Environment

Page 62



** Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change

FP – Forward Plan Decision
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY WORK PLAN 2018/19

OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S C&E O&S
Mon 11th June, 2018 at 1pm

12noon pre meeting  Rm 413 
CR

Wed, 23rd May 2018, 
3 pm CR

Thurs., 31st May 2018, 
3:30 pm – CR

May
 Work planning – HASC 

O&S
 Work planning – CYP 

O&S  Work planning C&E O&S

Wed, 6th June 2018,
10 am – CM

Tues 12th June 2018,
JHOSC Representative Only 

CR

Tues 12th June 2018, 
5:30 pm – Council 

Chamber CM
Wed 13th June 2018, 

11am CM

 Work planning – OSMC

JHOSC - South Yorkshire, 
Derbyshire, Nottinghamshire 
and Wakefield 

10.30am - Members Briefing 
1.00pm – Formal Meeting

 Children and Young 
People’s Plan - Annual 
Impact Report

 Child Poverty Overview 
 Youth Parliament
 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Work planning – R&H 
O&S

Thurs, 28th June 2018, 10 am – 
Council Chamber CM

Monday 25th June 2018, 10am
Council Chamber CR

June

 Youth Justice Plan
 Qtrly Finance &  

Performance Report – Qtr 3
 DMBC - to include;
 SLHD

 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Resources Allocations 
Process

Thurs, 19th July 2018, 12noon 
– Council Chamber CR

Mon, 2nd July 2018, 10am – 
Council Chamber CM

Tues, 24th July 2018, 9am 
– Council Chamber CR

Friday 27th July at 9.30am – 
Council Chamber CM

July
 State of the Borough 

Assessment/DGT – Data 
Analysis – Briefing session

To follow meeting:

 Doncaster's strategic health 
and social care plans – to 
include information on 
alternative service delivery 
models and Place Plan 
(CCG Jackie Pederson/Cath 

 Doncaster Children’s 
Trust (split screen) 
Children’s Trust and 
DMBC

 Update on Learning 
Provision Organisation 

 Flood Overview 
- Overview of drainage 

Boards – structure and 
their operation

- Audit case studies

P
age 63



** Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change

FP – Forward Plan Decision
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible

OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S C&E O&S
 Community Engagement 

Strategy workshop following 
OSMC 2pm

Doman)
 Public Health Protection 

Assurance Report 
 Health inequalities – BME 

Health Needs Assessment 
 Scrutiny Work Plan

Board and Learning 
Provision Strategy – 
Overview and on 
relationships with 
Academies and LA 
Schools

 Scrutiny Work Plan
Monday 6th August, 2018 

10am – site visit (CR)

Aug Smile Day Centre Visits as part 
of the Alternative Service 
Delivery Models Project

Thurs, 13th Sept. 2018, 10am – 
Council Chamber (CM)

Thurs, 27th Sept 2018, 10am – 
Council Chamber (CM)

Wed, 5th Sept 2018, 10am – 
Council Chamber (CR)

Wed, 19th Sept. 2018, 10am 
– Council Chamber (CM)

Sept

 Qtrly Finance &  
Performance Report – Qtr 4

 DMBC
 SLHD

 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Your Life Doncaster (Adults 
Transformation) 

 Mental Health – Overview, 
Strategy and Delivery Plan 
(CCG)

 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Annual Complaints 
(DCST)

 Doncaster Children’s 
Safeguarding Board 
Annual Report

 “Storing up Trouble” – 
Produced by the National 
Children’s Bureau

 Education and Skills 
thematic update

 Schools Performance 
tables

 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Members Briefing - 
Update on Hatfield 
Headstocks.

Thurs, 4th Oct 2018 – 10am
Council Chamber (CR)

Monday 22nd October – Full 
Day – Barnsley MBC (CM)

15th October 2018, 1pm – 
Council Chamber (CM)

Tues 23rd Oct 2018 – 
10am – 3.30pm, Council 

Chamber (CR)
Oct  Gambling Policy 

 Scrutiny Work Plan

Regional Joint Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee – 

 Hospital Services Review
 Integrated Care System

 Doncaster Inclusive 
Growth Plan

 Wool Market – Update
 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Flood Review- improvements 
since 2007 Floods – Evidence 
gathering from partners.

P
age 64



** Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change

FP – Forward Plan Decision
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible

OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S C&E O&S
Wed 28th Nov 2018 - 12:30pm 

to approx. 2:00pm, 
007AFriday, 2nd Nov 2018, 10am – 

Council Chamber (CR)
Thurs, 29th Nov 2018, 10am –

Council Chamber (CM)
 Social Isolation & Loneliness

Wed 28th Nov 2018 – 3pm, 
007A (CR)

Nov

 Community Safety Strategy
 Brexit
 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Carers Charter
 Mental Health theme – 

Prevention (DMBC)
 Suicide Prevention – (Public 

Health)
 Update on Inspection and 

Regulation
 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Waste - An update on the 
new contract 

 Tree Policy 
 Scrutiny Work Plan

Tues 4th December, 4pm – 
Cooking session with 
Children in Care (CR)

17th December (TBC – 
emerging local plan 

dependent)Dec Thurs, 6th Dec 2018, 10am – 
Council Chamber (AS)

Tues, 11th Dec 2018, 5pm - 
Council Chamber (CM)

 Qtrly Finance &  
Performance Report – Qtr 2

 DMBC
 SLHD
 Complaints and 

Compliments Annual Report
 Scrutiny Work Plan

 New Make Your Mark 
presentation – Youth 
Council

 Doncaster Children’s 
Trust (split screen) 
Children’s Trust and 
DMBC

 Attendance – Impact on 
Strategy and 
Performance update and 
Inclusion Plan (SEND)

 Child Poverty
 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Emerging Local Plan 
 Update on rail link to the 

Airport
 Housing Needs Analysis 

Overview 
 Update on Key Decision 

ESIF grant for delivery of 
New Business Support in 
Doncaster

Jan Mon, 21st Jan 2019, 10am – 
Council Chamber (CM)

Mon 28th Jan 2019, 1pm
Doncaster – TBC

P
age 65



** Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change

FP – Forward Plan Decision
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible

OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S C&E O&S

 DCST Financial Overview 
Report

Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee South 

Yorkshire, Derbyshire, 
Nottinghamshire and Wakefield

Thurs, 31st Jan 2019, 2pm
Council Chamber (CM)

 Doncaster Adult’s 
Safeguarding Board Annual 
Report 

 Veteran Plan (to include a 
reference to mental health 
agenda) (DMBC and NHS 
CCG)

 Integrated Commissioning 
Model (CYP led) Invite CYP 
O&S - TBC. 

 Scrutiny Work Plan

Thurs, 7th Feb 2019, 10am
Council Chamber (CR) Wed, 13th Feb 2019, 10am (CR)

 Budget

Thurs, 28th Feb 2019, 10am
Council Chamber (AS)

Feb

 Qtrly Finance &  
Performance Report – Qtr 3

o DMBC
o SLHD

 Scrutiny Work Plan

Crime and Disorder
 Community Safety Priorities 

Update
 CCTV impact of Strategy
 Update following Domestic 

Abuse Strategy Modern 
Slavery

 Complex Lives to include 
Amber Project

 Scrutiny Work Plan

Mar Thurs, 28th Mar 2019, 10am
Council Chamber (CM)

Thurs, 21st Mar 2019, 10am
Council Chamber (CR)

Tues, 5th Mar 2019, 5 pm
Council Chamber (CR)

Wed, 13th Mar 2019, 10am
Council Chamber (CM)P

age 66



** Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change

FP – Forward Plan Decision
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible

OSMC H&ASC O&S CYP O&S R&H O&S C&E O&S

 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Mental Health Theme – 
Dementia (NHS CCG)

 End of Life Plan
 Public Health Protection 

Update on Inspection and 
Regulation

 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Youth Council – 
Feedback on key issues

 Behaviour 
Transformation 
Programme – focus on 
tracking fixed term and 
permanent exclusions

 Social Mobility 
Opportunity Area 
Delivery Plan (including 
information on curriculum 
for life requested at 
24/7/18 meeting) 
(deferred from 
December)

 Scrutiny Work Plan

 Housing Investment Plan 
– following Housing 
Needs Analysis 
overview.

 Homelessness – Update 
on position and recs from 
16/17 Panel review and 
impact of PSPO

 Place Marketing – 
Update on position and 
recs made from previous 
Panel review

 Scrutiny Work Plan

April

May

P
age 67



** Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change

FP – Forward Plan Decision
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible

POSSIBLE ISSUES FOR FUTURE CONSIDERATION - TBC

Yorkshire Ambulance Service 
reconfiguration (YAS)
Inclusion of Ambulance Service 
Response Times & Criteria 
(TBC)

Youth Council feedback on 
(TBC);

a) Update on Curriculum for 
Life (including outcome of 
Personal, Social, And 
Health Education (PHSE) 
audit)

b) Feedback on Youth 
Surgeries 

c) Expect Youth – 
Response/Monitoring 
exercise align/where are they 
locating activity/where can 
young people go?

Street Scene – fly tipping and 
street cleaning – how is it dealt 
with and comparisons with rural 
and urban areas.  Possible invite 
to like authority.  How is rubbish 
dealt with on private land?

Corporate Plan Refresh Personal Budgets/Direct 
payments

Communication within 
Communities around access to 
services

3rd Sector/ Assets/ 
Commissioning –acute end of 
life Adult Social Care

Learning Disabilities Strategy 

Substance abuse

Alternative Service Delivery 
Model

P
age 68



** Please note dates of meetings/rooms/support may change

FP – Forward Plan Decision
CR, CM or AS – Officer Responsible

 (TBC)

Health & Wellbeing Strategy

Hospital Services Review – 
Maternity Provision

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY WORKPLAN 2019/2020

27th June 2019

Quarter 4 Finance and 
Performance report

Update from Public Health with 
the progress on the new 
initiatives being undertaken to 
support people with gambling 
addiction and actions taken 
through the Gambling and 
Financial Inclusion Group

Children and Young People 
Plan (DMBC & CCG) – 
previously addressed by 
CYP O&S June 2018 but will 
need future consideration

Update on Hatfield 
Headstocks (and future 
options)

An update on the South Yorkshire 
Waste (September 2019/2020)

Green Future - 2019

Environment Strategy - 2019

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL
FORWARD PLAN FOR THE PERIOD 1ST DECEMBER, 2018 TO 31ST MARCH, 2019

The Forward Plan sets out details of all Key Decisions expected to be taken during the next four months by either the Cabinet collectively, The Mayor, 
Deputy Mayor, Portfolio Holders or Officers and is updated and republished each month.

A Key Decision is an executive decision which is likely:-
(a)   to result in the Local Authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the
       Local Authority's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 
(b)   to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or 
       electoral divisions in the area of the Local Authority;
(c)   any decision related to the approval or variation of the Policy and budget Framework that is reserved to the Full Council.

The level of expenditure/savings which this Authority has adopted as being financially significant is £250,000.

Please note in addition to the documents identified in the plan, other documents relevant to a decision may be submitted to the Decision Maker. Details of 
any additional documents submitted can be obtained from the Contact Officer listed against each decision identified in this plan.

In respect of exempt items, if you would like to make written representations as to why a report should be considered in public, please send these to the 
contact officer responsible for that particular decision. Unless otherwise stated, representations should be made at least 14 days before the expected date 
of the decision.

KEY
Those items in BOLD are NEW 
Those items in ITALICS have been RESCHEDULED following issue 
of the last plan

Prepared on: XXXXXX and superseding all previous Forward Plans with effect from the period identified above.

Jo Miller
Chief Executive

P
age 71



2

MEMBERS OF THE CABINET

Cabinet Member For:

Mayor - Ros Jones
Deputy Mayor - Councillor Glyn Jones

Councillor Nigel Ball
Councillor Joe Blackham
Councillor Rachael Blake
Councillor Nuala Fennelly
Councillor Chris McGuinness
Councillor Bill Mordue
Councillor Jane Nightingale

- Housing and Equalities

- Public Health, Leisure and Culture
- Highways, Street Scene and Trading Services
- Adult Social Care
- Children, Young People and Schools
- Communities, Voluntary Sector and the Environment
- Business, Skills and Economic Development
- Customer and Corporate Resources.

Some Decisions listed in the Forward Plan are to be taken by Full Council

Members of the Full Council are:-

Councillors Nick Allen, Duncan Anderson, Lani-Mae Ball, Nigel Ball, Iris Beech, Joe Blackham, Rachael Blake, Nigel Cannings, Bev Chapman, 
Phil Cole, John Cooke, Mick Cooper, Jane Cox, Steve Cox, Linda Curran, George Derx, Susan Durant, Nuala Fennelly, Neil Gethin, Sean 
Gibbons, John Gilliver, Martin Greenhalgh, Pat Haith, John Healy, Rachel Hodson, Charlie Hogarth, Mark Houlbrook, David Hughes, Eva Hughes, 
Glyn Jones, R. Allan Jones, Ros Jones, Ken Keegan, Majid Khan, Jane Kidd, Nikki McDonald, Tosh McDonald, Chris McGuinness, Sue 
McGuinness, Bill Mordue, John Mounsey, David Nevett, Jane Nightingale, Ian Pearson, Andy Pickering, Cynthia Ransome, Tina Reid, Andrea 
Robinson, Kevin Rodgers, Dave Shaw, Derek Smith, Frank Tyas, Austen White, Sue Wilkinson, Jonathan Wood, Paul Wray.

P
age 72



3

WHEN 
DECISION IS 

EXPECTED TO 
BE TAKEN

KEY DECISION TO BE 
TAKEN

RELEVANT 
CABINET 
MEMBER

DECSION TO 
BE TAKEN BY

CONTACT 
OFFICER(S)

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 

CONSIDEED 
BY DECISION 

MAKER

REASON FOR 
EXEMPTION – LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT 

1972 SCHEDULE 12A

4 Dec 2018 Update on progress against 
the delivery of the Big Picture 
Learning school (Non-Key)

Councillor 
Nuala 
Fennelly, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Children, 
Young People 
and Schools

Cabinet Kaye Rushbrook, 
Head of Service  
kaye.rushbrook@do
ncaster.gov.uk

Open

4 Dec 2018 To secure funding to 
implement a 2 year fleet and 
plant replacement program

Councillor Joe 
Blackham, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Highways, 
Street Scene 
and Trading 
Services

Cabinet Richard Speight  
richard.speight@don
caster.gov.uk

Open

4 Dec 2018 To accept ESIF grant for 
delivery of New Business 
Support in Doncaster as part 
of the Sheffield City Region 
(SCR) Launchpad Programme 
(Phase 2) 1st April 2019 - 31st 
March 2022)

Councillor Bill 
Mordue, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Business, 
Skills and 
Economic 
Development

Cabinet Claire Bossward, 
Employment and 
Enterprise Manager  
claire.bossward@do
ncaster.gov.uk

SCR New 
Business 
Start-up 
(Launchpad) 
Programme’ 
decision 
signed by the 
Mayor on the 
21st April 2016

Open

12 Feb 2019 To approve admission Councillor Cabinet Neil McAllister, Open

P
age 73



4

arrangements for the 2020/21 
Academic Year

Nuala 
Fennelly, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Children, 
Young People 
and Schools

School Organisation 
Manager  
neil.mcallister@donc
aster.gov.uk

26 Feb 2019 Quarter 3 2018-19 Finance 
and Performance Report

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Cabinet Faye Tyas, Head of 
Financial 
Management  
faye.tyas@doncaster
.gov.uk, Louise 
Parker, Head of 
Service Strategy & 
Performance Unit 
Manager  
Louise.Parker@donc
aster.gov.uk

Revenue 
Budget 
2018/19
Capital 
Programme 
Budget 
2018/19

Open

26 Feb 2019 St Leger Homes Performance 
Report 2018/19 Quarter 3

Councillor 
Glyn Jones, 
Deputy Mayor, 
Portfolio 
Holder for 
Housing and 
Equalities

Cabinet Stephen Thorlby-
Coy, Head of 
Business Excellence, 
St Leger Homes  
Stephen.Thorlby-
Coy@stlegerhomes.
co.uk

Open

Not before 4th 
Mar 2019

To approve the Revenue 
Budget 2019/20

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Council, 
Cabinet
Decision to take 
to Cabinet 12th 
February 2019 
prior to Full 
Council 
approval

Steve Mawson, Chief 
Financial Officer & 
Assistant Director of 
Finance Tel: 01302 
737650 
steve.mawson@don
caster.gov.uk

Revenue 
Budget 
2018/19, 
Council 5th 
March 2018
Quarter 2 
2018-19 
Finance and 

Open

P
age 74



5

Performance 
Report, 
Cabinet 20th 
November 
2018

Not before 4th 
Mar 2019

To approve the Capital 
Strategy and Capital 
Programme 2019/20 to 
2022/23

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Council, 
Cabinet
Decision to take 
to Cabinet 12th 
February 2019 
prior to Full 
Council 
approval

Steve Mawson, Chief 
Financial Officer & 
Assistant Director of 
Finance Tel: 01302 
737650 
steve.mawson@don
caster.gov.uk

Capital 
Programme 
2018/19 to 
2021/22, 
Council 5th 
March 2018
Quarter 2 
2018-19 
Finance and 
Performance 
Report, 
Cabinet 20th 
November 
2018

Open

Not before 4th 
Mar 2019

To approve the Council Tax 
and Statutory Regulations 
2019/20

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Council, 
Cabinet
Decision to take 
to Cabinet 12th 
February 2019 
prior to Full 
Council 
approval

Steve Mawson, Chief 
Financial Officer & 
Assistant Director of 
Finance Tel: 01302 
737650 
steve.mawson@don
caster.gov.uk

Revenue 
Budget 
2019/20, 
Council 4th 
March 2019

Open

Not before 4th 
Mar 2019

To approve the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2019/20 
to 2022/23

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Council, 
Cabinet
Decision to take 
to Cabinet 12th 
February 2019 
prior to Full 
Council 

Steve Mawson, Chief 
Financial Officer & 
Assistant Director of 
Finance Tel: 01302 
737650 
steve.mawson@don
caster.gov.uk

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy 
2018/19 to 
2021/22, 
Council 5th 
March 2018

Open

P
age 75



6

approval Quarter 2 
2018-19 
Finance and 
Performance 
Report, 
Cabinet 20th 
November 
2018

Not before 4th 
Mar 2019

To approve the Housing 
Revenue Account Budget 
2019/20

Mayor Ros 
Jones

Council, 
Cabinet
Decision to take 
to Cabinet 12th 
February 2019 
prior to Full 
Council 
approval

Steve Mawson, Chief 
Financial Officer & 
Assistant Director of 
Finance Tel: 01302 
737650 
steve.mawson@don
caster.gov.uk

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 
Budget 
2018/19, 
Council 5th 
March 2018
Quarter 2 
2018-19 
Finance and 
Performance 
Report, 
Cabinet 20th 
November 
2018

Open

P
age 76


	Agenda
	5 Waste Collection Contract - Update
	Waste Collection Appendix 1
	Waste Collection Appendix 2 and 3

	6 Tree Policy and Tree Risk Management Plan for Doncaster Council's Trees and Woodlands
	Tree Policy Appendix

	7 Scrutiny Work Plan November 2018
	Work Plan Appendix A
	Work Plan Appendix B


